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Explanatory Note: We are filing this amendment to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year period ended December 31, 2011, which was
originally filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 28, 2012 (the “Original Filing”), to include the signatures of our
independent registered public accounting firm on their report on our consolidated financial statements and their consent in Exhibit 23.1.
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PART I
•

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

•

We use words such as “intends”, “expects”, “anticipates”, “plans”, “may”, “will” and similar expressions to identify forward-looking
statements.

•

Discussions containing forward-looking statements may be found in the material set forth under “Business,” “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and in other sections of the report.

•

All forward-looking statements, including but not limited to, projections, expectations or estimates concerning our business, including
demand for our products and services, mix of revenue sources, ability to control and/or reduce operating expenses, anticipated gross
margins and operating results, cost savings, product development efforts, general outlook of our business and industry, future profits or
losses, competitive position, share-based compensation, and adequate liquidity to fund our operations and meet our other cash requirements,
are inherently uncertain as they are based on our expectations and assumptions concerning future events.

•

These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous known and unknown risks and uncertainties.

•

You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.

•

Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements for many reasons, including but not
limited to,
o

the possibility that we may fail to preserve our expertise in search advertising network product development,

o

that existing and potential distribution partners may opt to work with, or favor the products of, competitors if our competitors offer
more favorable products or pricing terms,

o

that seasonal fluctuations in internet usage and traditional advertising seasonality are likely to affect our business,

o

that we may be unable to maintain or grow sources of revenue,

o

that changes in the distribution network composition may lead to decreases in query volumes,

o

that we may be unable to maintain or improve our query volume, match rate, number of paid clicks, average revenue per click,
conversion rate or other ad network metrics,

o

that we may be unable to maintain profitability,

o

that we may be unable to attract and retain key personnel,

o

that we may not be able to effectively manage, or to increase, our relationships with international customers,

o

that we may have unexpected increases in costs and expenses, or

o

that one or more of the other risks described below in the section entitled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report may occur.

All forward-looking statements in this report are made as of the date hereof, based on information available to us as of the date hereof, and except
as required by applicable law, we assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statements.
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ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

Overview
LookSmart, Ltd. (“LookSmart” or “the Company”) is a search advertising network solutions company that provides relevant solutions for
search advertising customers. LookSmart was organized in 1996 and is incorporated in the State of Delaware.
LookSmart operates in a large online search advertising ecosystem serving ads that target user queries on partner sites. We operate in the
middle of this ecosystem, acquiring search queries from a variety of sources and matching them with the keywords of our search advertising
customers. Our largest category of customers has been Intermediaries, the majority of which purchase clicks to sell into the affiliate networks of the
large search engine providers. Another category of customers are Direct Advertisers and their agencies whose objective is to obtain conversions or
sales from the clicks, while others want unique page views. The last category of customers is Self-Service advertisers that sign-up online and pay by
credit card.
LookSmart offers search advertising customers targeted search via a monitored search advertising distribution network using the Company’s
“AdCenter” platform technology. The Company’s search advertising network includes publishers and search advertising customers, including
intermediaries and direct advertising customers and their agencies as well as self-service customers in the United States and certain other countries.
The Company’s application programming interface (“API”) allows search advertising customers and their advertising agencies to connect any type
of marketing or reporting software with minimal effort, for easier access, management, and optimization of search advertising campaigns.
LookSmart also offers publishers licensed private-label search advertiser network solutions based on its AdCenter platform technology
(“Publisher Solutions”). Publisher Solutions consist of hosted auction-based ad serving with an ad backfill capability that allows publishers and
portals to manage their advertiser relationships, distribution channels and accounts.
In the first quarter of 2008, management made the decision to exit its remaining consumer products activities and to sell or otherwise dispose of
the remaining consumer assets. During 2008, we sold the intellectual property rights to the “Wisenut” trademark and related domain names and
decided to wind down the Furl operations. The Furl assets were accounted for under the guidance of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”)
360-10-40, Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“ASC 360-10-40”) as “assets held for sale” and a full impairment of these assets was
recorded at December 31, 2008. In the first quarter of 2009, the Furl assets were sold. The results of operations of consumer product activities,
including related gains (losses), have been classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations, as described more fully in Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements below. At December 31, 2011, the Company
continues to own the Wisenut search engine technology, intellectual property rights in such technology, and other assets.
Products and Services
LookSmart’s revenue sources are divided into two categories:
1.
2.

Advertiser Networks
Publisher Solutions

Advertiser Networks
LookSmart develops, markets, and sells premium and performance search advertising products to search advertising customers and related
advertising agencies through a variety of pricing models tailored to customer requirements. These search advertising customers reach potential
customers with our sponsored search products. Our sponsored search products give search advertising customers complete control of their
campaigns with different keyword matching options (Smart, Broad, Negative) and targeting options (Keyword, Category, Geography, Day-parting,
or “Run of Network”) to maximize advertiser Return on Investment (“ROI”). Ads are distributed through an extensive network of syndication
partners.
LookSmart actively pursues relationships with portals, internet service providers (“ISPs”), media companies, other ad networks, search services
and other websites to maintain and increase the distribution of our advertiser’s search advertisements.
These relationships are key drivers of our growth because more distribution typically results in more online search advertising revenues. We
derive the majority of our traffic from our pay-per-click (“PPC”) distribution network partners. Each click is verified through our proprietary
network traffic monitoring and management process, as well as third-party technologies and tools.
Our largest category of customers has been the Intermediaries, the majority of which purchase clicks to sell into the affiliate network of large
search engine providers. In 2011, revenue from Intermediaries decreased significantly compared to 2010. This decrease was the primary driver of
the revenue drop and was a result of changes in the search ecosystem that had a severe impact on the Intermediary business models and
consequently the business they conduct with us. We have ceased business with several Intermediaries as a result and we do not expect significant
future growth in the Intermediary business.
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Through a web interface or our proprietary API, LookSmart’s AdCenter allows multiple search advertising customers to upload keywords,
manage daily budgets, set rates and view reports—including spend data that is updated hourly. Search advertising customers can also access
keyword suggestions, price and traffic estimates, online help and frequently asked questions (“FAQ”). The AdCenter API is also available for
search advertising customers and related agencies that use third-party or in-house systems to analyze and manage their search campaigns.
Publisher Solutions
LookSmart offers a suite of customizable search advertising management tools and solutions that help publishers grow their audience, control
advertiser relationships, and enhance and optimize the monetization of their sites. Our Publisher Solutions can be branded and configured according
to publishers’ needs. We offer publishers:
•
•
•

Command and control over revenue diversification and growth via the AdCenter for Publishers, a comprehensive private-labeled
Application Service Provider (“ASP”) solution that provides publishers with the ability to own and grow their advertiser relationships,
increase their distribution capacity, and diversify their revenue sources.
A customizable set of services and technology to integrate multiple sources of advertisers, including dominant third-party feeds, within a
single auction-based platform for cost-per-click (“CPC”) text-based advertising.
Access to a “backfill” of advertisers so they can quickly ramp their online operations and not lose time or existing revenue sources while
establishing their advertiser relationships. Connecting multiple installations of the AdCenter for Publishers together allows LookSmart to
create an open marketplace environment that empowers publishers to share, leverage, and exchange their advertisers for expanded
distribution.

Technology
We have developed a proprietary web-based advertising auction platform, the AdCenter, that allows us to create, track, analyze, report and
optimize customers’ advertising campaigns. The AdCenter indexes ads, analyzes webpage information to match advertising to relevant content,
matches search queries to advertising and utilizes advanced fraud detection techniques in a high-volume ad serving environment. The platform also
collects impression and click data for each listing that we manage for our customers and provides us with billing information. In addition, we
provide each of our advertising customers with a password-protected online account that enables them to track, analyze and optimize their search
marketing campaigns using online reports. The platform also includes an interface for publishers to access ad syndication feed reports and revenue
information.
We rely on a combination of patent, trade secret, copyright and trademark laws and contractual provisions to protect our intellectual property
and proprietary rights. Our trademarks include LookSmart ® . We have an issued patent on our Wisenut search engine technology and have patents
pending or issued on various aspects of our ad delivery and search technologies. LookSmart currently holds one patent that expires in 2021.
Competition
The online search advertising industry is constantly evolving, changes rapidly and is highly competitive. One of the major factors contributing
to this competitive environment is that providers of all online advertising formats compete for a share of the advertisers’ limited advertising
budgets. The large search engines, such as Yahoo!, Google, and Bing often receive the biggest portion of the search marketing budget. With greater
capital and technical resources, and greater brand recognition, the larger search engines are often first priority in the mind of the advertiser, agency
or buyer.
In 2010, we introduced the LookSmart Quality Manifesto, a commitment to our advertisers, publishers and the entire search marketing
community to strive to provide the highest quality search advertising network possible. The introduction of the Quality Manifesto highlights our
dedication to finding the best ways to acquire and deliver quality traffic based on values of trust, respect and integrity.
We compete on two main fronts: 1) attracting and growing our base of search advertising customers to purchase our online search advertising
products and to incorporate their key words into our search advertising network, and 2) attracting and maintaining distribution network partners to
incorporate their search queries into our search advertising network. The basis on which we compete differs among the two fronts. In addition,
while internet advertising continues to grow year over year, customers’ online advertising budgets are in competition with advertising in other
media such as television, radio and print.
5
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Government Regulations
We are subject to a number of domestic state and federal laws that affect companies conducting business on the Internet. In addition, because
of the increasing popularity of the Internet and the growth of online services, laws relating to user privacy, freedom of expression, content,
advertising, information security and intellectual property rights are being debated and considered for adoption.
In the U.S., state and federal laws relating to the liability of providers of online services for activities of their consumers, and the liability of
providers of online advertisers ads and activities, are currently being tested by a number of claims, which include actions for defamation, libel,
invasion of privacy and other data protection claims, tort, unlawful activity, copyright or trademark infringement, or other theories based on the
nature and content of the materials searched by consumers, the advertisements shown to consumers or the content generated by consumers.
Likewise, other federal laws could have an impact on our business. For example, the Children’s Online Protection Act and the Children’s Online
Privacy Protection Act restrict the distribution of materials considered harmful to children and impose additional restrictions on the ability of online
services to collect information from minors. In addition, the Protection of Children from Sexual Predators Act of 1998 requires online service
providers to report evidence of violations of federal child pornography laws under certain circumstances.
In addition, the application of existing laws regulating or requiring licenses for certain businesses of our search advertising customers,
including, for example, distribution of pharmaceuticals, adult content, online gambling, financial services, alcohol or firearms, can be unclear.
Application of these laws in an unanticipated manner could expose us to substantial liability and restrict our ability to deliver services to our
customers.
Marketing
We use both traditional and non-traditional means and media types to grow our business. In addition to advertising and public relations
programs, we seek to retain customers through a mix of informative marketing communications, helpful account tools, continual customer support
and an optimal user experience.
We provide relevant content, advertising and technology solutions to advertisers and publishers. Marketing activities are designed to support
and grow our business by targeting:
Search Advertising Customers—We deliver online search advertisements to a network of syndicated publishers and search engine partners.
Publishers—We offer a suite of customizable tools and solutions that help publishers grow their audience, search advertiser relationships, and
revenue.
Employees
Our future success is substantially dependent on the performance of our senior management and key technical and sales personnel, and our
continuing ability to attract and retain highly qualified technical and managerial staff. As of December 31, 2011 we had 50 employees.
Customers
For the year ended December 31, 2011, each of two Intermediaries customers accounted for more than 10% of our revenue, and in the
aggregate they accounted for 22% of our revenue. In the future, we expect our revenue concentration associated with the Intermediary customers to
be smaller.
Product Development and Technical Operations Expense
Product development and technical operations expense includes all costs related to the continued operation, development and enhancement of
our core technology product, the AdCenter platform. Our product development and technical operations expense, net of capitalized software
development costs, was approximately $6.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2011 and approximately $9.0 million during the year
ended December 31, 2010.
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Available Information
Our website, www.looksmart.com , provides access, without charge, to our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The information provided on our website is not part of this report, and is therefore not
incorporated by reference unless such information is otherwise specifically referenced elsewhere in this report.
Materials we file with the SEC may be read and copied at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549.
Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains a
website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding our company that we file
electronically with the SEC.
ITEM 1A . RISK FACTORS
You should carefully consider the risks described below before making an investment decision regarding our common stock. If any of the
following risks actually occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be harmed. In that case, the trading price of our
common stock could decline and our investors could lose all or part of their investment. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we
currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations.
Risks Related to our Business
Our financial results are highly concentrated in the online search advertising business; if we are unable to grow online search advertising
revenues and find alternative sources of revenue, our financial results will suffer
Search advertising accounted for substantially all of our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. Our success depends upon
search advertising customers choosing to use, and distribution network partners choosing to distribute, our search advertising networks products.
Search advertising customers and distribution network partners may not adopt our products at projected rates, or changes in market conditions, may
adversely affect the use or distribution of search advertisements. Because of our revenue concentration in the online search advertising business,
such shortfalls or changes could have a negative impact on our financial results. Also, many of our products are offered to website publishers who
use them to display or generate revenue from their online advertisements. If we are unable to generate significant revenue from our online
advertising business or related business models under development, or if market conditions adversely affect the use or distribution of online
advertisements generally, or for some of our larger customers specifically, our results of operations, financial condition and/or liquidity will suffer.
Our largest category of customers have historically been Intermediaries, the majority of whom purchase clicks to sell into the affiliate
networks of large search engine providers. In 2011, we experienced a significant decrease in revenues largely due to loss of Intermediary
business.
We operate in a large online search advertising ecosystem serving ads that target user queries on partner sites. We operate in the middle of this
ecosystem, acquiring search queries from a variety of sources and matching them with the keywords of our search advertising customers. Our
largest category of customers has historically been Intermediaries, the majority of which purchase clicks to sell into the affiliate networks of large
search engine providers. The Intermediary business model experienced a significant change in the fourth quarter of 2011. We have ceased business
with several of our Intermediary customers and do not expect significant future revenue growth in this area. If we are unable to identify and exploit
alternative sources of profitable revenue, our results of operations, financial condition and/or liquidity will suffer.
Our future success depends on sales to, and the management of, international customers
A portion of our revenue is derived from sales to international customers who are headquartered internationally, however our business with
them is primarily U.S. based and our transactions are primarily in U.S. dollars.
Managing our growing group of customers outside the U.S. presents various challenges, including, but not limited to:
• economic and political conditions;
• longer payment cycles;
• differences in the enforcement of intellectual property and contract rights in varying jurisdictions;
• our ability to develop relationships with local accounts;
• compliance with United States. and international laws and regulations;
• fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates; and
• our ability to secure and retain qualified people for the operation of our business.
To date, foreign exchange exposure from sales has not been material to our operations. Our activities with customers outside the United States
may be affected by changes in trade protection laws, policies and measures, and other regulatory requirements affecting trade and investment,
including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and local laws prohibiting corrupt payments. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries may not
protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States, which increases the risk of unauthorized use of our
technologies. Our business could be materially adversely affected if foreign markets do not continue to develop, if we do not receive additional
traffic suitable for our foreign accounts or if regulations governing our international businesses change.
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We rely primarily on our distribution network partners to generate quality search queries and display advertisements that generate paid
clicks; if we are unable to maintain or expand the scope and quality of this network, our ability to generate revenue may be seriously
harmed
The success of our online search advertisement products depends in large part on the size and quality of our distribution network of search
queries. We may be unable to maintain or add distribution network partners of satisfactory quality in our distribution network at reasonable
revenue-sharing rates, or at all.. If we lose any significant portion of our distribution network, we would need to find alternative sources of quality
click traffic to replace the lost paid clicks. In the past, we have lost portions of our distribution network and chose to remove those with poor
quality. Although alternate sources of click traffic are currently available in the market, they may not be available at reasonable prices or may be of
unacceptable quality. There is significant competition among advertising networks to sign agreements with traffic providers. We may be unable to
negotiate and sign agreements with quality traffic providers on favorable terms, if at all. In order to attract higher quality traffic, we may have to
pay high traffic acquisition costs which may adversely affect our gross margin and other financial results. If we are unable to attract higher quality
traffic, or if we are otherwise unsuccessful in maintaining and expanding our distribution network, then our ability to generate revenue may be
seriously harmed.
We generated a net loss in 2011, have had losses in the past, and may have further losses in the future. Failure to maintain operating
profitability could harm our business and result in a decline in our stock price.
We had a net loss of $2.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. As of December 31, 2011, our accumulated deficit was approximately
$237 million. We may be unable to achieve profitability in the foreseeable future. Our ability to achieve and maintain profitability will depend on
our ability to generate additional revenue and contain our expenses. In order to generate additional revenue, we will need to expand our network of
distribution network partners, increase the amount our search advertising customers spend on our advertising network, expand our advertiser base,
experience an increase in paid clicks across our network and publisher products and develop and implement successful new digital advertising
revenue generating models. We may be unable to accomplish some or any of these goals because of the risks identified in this report or for
unforeseen reasons. Also, we may be unable to contain our costs due to the need to make revenue sharing payments to our distribution network
partners, to invest in product development, and market our products. Because of the foregoing factors, and others outlined in this report, we may be
unable to maintain profitability in the future, which could result in a decline in our stock price.
If we experience downward pressure on our match rate and/or revenue-per-click, or we are unable to rebuild our match rate, and/or
revenue-per-click, our financial results may suffer
We have experienced, and may in the future experience, downward pressure on our average revenue-per-click (“RPC”) and average match rate,
which is the rate at which our paid listings are matched against search queries from distribution network partners, due to various market segment,
customer, and channel factors. We may experience decreases in RPC or average match rate in the future for many reasons, including a change in
customer mix, the erosion of our advertiser base, the reduction in average advertiser spend, the reduction in the number of listings purchased by
search advertising customers, the reduction of bids on keywords, changes in the composition of our distribution network or other reasons. If our
RPC or average match rate falls for any reason, or if we are unable to grow our RPC and average match rate, then we may be unable to achieve our
financial projections and our stock price would likely suffer.
Our growth depends on our ability to retain and grow our search advertising customer base; if our search advertising customer base and
average search advertising customer spend falls, our financial results will suffer
Our growth depends on our ability to build a search advertising customer base that corresponds with the characteristics of our distribution
network. Our distribution network, which currently consists of a diversified network of distribution sources, may change as new distribution sources
are added and old distribution sources are removed. Search advertising customers may view these changes to the distribution network negatively,
and existing or potential search advertising customers may elect to purchase fewer or no advertisements for display on our distribution network. If
this occurs, it is likely that our average RPC and average match rate may decline and our stock price would likely suffer.
If we do not introduce new and upgraded products and services and successfully adapt to our rapidly changing industry, our financial
condition may suffer
The online search advertising industry continues to evolve and we will need to continue developing new and upgraded products and services,
and adapt to new business environments and competition in order to maintain and grow revenue and reach our profitability goals. New search
advertising technologies could emerge that make our services comparatively less useful or new business methods could emerge that divert web
traffic away from our Advertising Network. In addition, competition from other web businesses may prevent us from attracting substantial traffic to
our services. Also, we may inaccurately predict the direction of the online search advertising market, which could lead us to make investments in
technologies and products that do not generate sufficient returns. We may face platform and resource constraints that prevent us from developing
upgraded products and services. We may fail to successfully identify new products or services, or fail to bring new products or services to market in
a timely and efficient manner. Rapid industry change makes it difficult for us to accurately anticipate customer needs for our products, particularly
over longer periods.
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We face intense competitive pressures, which could materially and adversely affect our financial results
We compete in the relatively new and rapidly evolving online search advertising industry, which presents many uncertainties that could require
us to further refine our business model. We compete with large companies that provide paid placement products, paid inclusion products, and other
forms of search marketing as well as contextually-targeted advertising products and other types of online advertisements. We compete for search
advertising customers on the basis of the quality and composition of our network, the price-per-click (“PPC”) charged to search advertising
customers, the volume of clicks that we can deliver to search advertising customers, tracking and reporting of campaign results, customer service,
and other factors. We also compete for distribution network partners and for ad placement on those partners’ sites on the basis of the relevance of
our ads and the PPC charged to search advertising customers. We also experience competition in offering our publisher products to website
publishers. Some of our competitors have larger distribution networks and proprietary traffic bases, longer operating histories, greater brand
recognition, higher RPC, better relevance and conversion rates, or better products and services than we have.
Our acquisition of businesses and technologies may be costly and time-consuming; acquisitions may also dilute our existing stockholders
From time to time we evaluate corporate development opportunities and when appropriate, may make acquisitions of or significant investments
in, complementary companies or technologies to increase our technological capabilities expand our service offerings, or extend the operating scale
of our network businesses. The pursuit of acquisitions, whether or not completed, as well as the completion of any acquisitions and their integration
may be expensive and may divert the attention of management from the day-to-day operations of the company. It may be difficult to retain key
management and technical personnel of the acquired company during the transition period following an acquisition. Acquisitions or other strategic
transactions may also result in dilution to our existing stockholders if we issue additional equity securities or increase our debt. We may also be
required to amortize significant amounts of intangible assets, record impairment of goodwill in connection with future acquisitions, or divest nonperforming assets at below-market prices, which would adversely affect our operating results. Integration of acquired companies and technologies
into the company is likely to be expensive, time-consuming, and strain our managerial resources. We may not be successful in integrating any
acquired businesses or technologies and these transactions may not achieve anticipated business benefits.
Our success depends on our ability to attract and retain key personnel; if we were unable to attract and retain key personnel in the future,
our business could be materially and adversely impacted
Our success depends on our ability to identify, attract, retain and motivate highly skilled development, technical, sales, and management
personnel. We have a limited number of key development, technical, sales and management personnel performing critical company functions, and
the loss of the services of any of our key employees, particularly any of our executive team members or key technical personnel, could adversely
affect our business. The combination of depressed capital markets, stock volatility, and small market capitalization may not allow us to offer
competitive equity based compensation to attract and retain key personnel.
We face capacity constraints on our software and infrastructure systems that may be costly and time-consuming to resolve
We use proprietary and licensed software and databases to receive and analyze advertisements, campaigns and budgets, match search queries to
advertising, analyze webpage information to match advertising to relevant content, integrate third-party ads, detect invalid clicks, serve ads in high
volume, and track, analyze and report on advertising responses and campaigns. Any of these software systems may contain undetected errors,
defects or bugs, or may fail to operate with other software applications. The following developments may strain our capacity and result in technical
difficulties with our service or the websites of our distribution network partners:
• customization of our matching algorithms and ad serving technologies,
• substantial increases in the number of queries to our database,
• substantial increases in the number of searches in our advertising databases, or
• the addition of new products or new features or changes to our products.
If we experience difficulties with our software and infrastructure systems or if we fail to address these difficulties in a timely manner, we may
lose the confidence of search advertisers and distribution network partners, our revenue may decline and our business could suffer. In addition, as
we expand our service offerings and enter into new business areas, we may be required to significantly modify and expand our software and
infrastructure systems. If we fail to accomplish these tasks in a timely manner, our business will likely suffer.
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Our ability to obtain new credit facilities may adversely affect the way we conduct our business
We may need to enter into additional credit facilities in the future to operate the business. Our history of operating losses may make it more
difficult for us to obtain additional financing for our operations, investing activities, or financing activities. This difficulty or inability could
materially limit our business operations and adversely affect our business performance.
If we do not comply with the financial covenants in our credit agreements, our financial condition could be adversely affected.
Our credit facilities contain provisions that could limit our ability to, among other things, incur, create or assume additional debt, sell or
otherwise dispose of our or any of our subsidiary’s assets, or consolidate or merge with or into, or acquire the obligations or stock of, or any other
interest in, another person. In addition, our credit facilities contain financial covenants that require us to maintain specified levels of tangible net
worth and liquid assets. Our ability to meet those financial covenants can be affected by events beyond our control, and we may be unable to satisfy
these covenants. If we fail to comply with these covenants, we may be required to identify restricted cash equal to our outstanding capital lease
balance plus our outstanding standby letter of credit (“SBLC”) or, in the event of default, we may be required to pay the lenders cash in an amount
equal to the capital lease balance. Paying such cash balances could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition.
Risks Related to Operating in our Industry
Economic conditions, political events, and other circumstances could materially adversely affect the Company
The Company’s operations and performance depend significantly on worldwide economic conditions and their impact on levels of consumer
spending in many countries and regions, including without limitation the United States, and may remain depressed for some time. Some of the
factors that could influence the levels of consumer spending and, in turn, online advertising, include continuing volatility in fuel and other energy
costs, conditions in the residential real estate and mortgage markets, labor and healthcare costs, access to credit, consumer confidence and other
macroeconomic factors affecting consumer spending behavior and, in turn, online advertising. These and other economic factors could have a
material adverse effect on demand for the Company’s products and services and on the Company’s financial condition and operating results.
Cyclical and seasonal fluctuations in the economy, in internet usage and in traditional retail shopping may have an effect on our business
Both cyclical and seasonal fluctuations in internet usage and traditional retail seasonality may affect our business. Internet usage generally
slows during the summer months, and queries typically increase significantly in the fourth quarter of each year. These seasonal trends may cause
fluctuations in our quarterly results, including fluctuations in sequential revenue growth rates.
If we fail to prevent, detect and remove invalid search queries and clicks, we could lose the confidence of our search advertisers, thereby
causing our business to suffer
Invalid clicks are an ongoing problem for the Internet search advertising industry, and we are exposed to the risk of invalid clicks on our search
advertising customers’ text advertisements coming from within our distribution network. Invalid clicks occur when a person or robotic software
causes a click on a paid listing to occur for some reason other than to view the underlying content. Invalid clicks are commonly referred to as “click
fraud”. We continue to invest significant time and resources in preventing, detecting and eliminating invalid traffic from our distribution network.
However, the perpetrators of click fraud have developed sophisticated methods to evade detection, and we are unlikely to be able to completely
detect and remove all invalid traffic from our search network.
We have in the past been subject to advertiser complaints and litigation regarding invalid clicks, and we may be subject to search advertising
customer complaints, claims, litigation or inquiries in the future. We have from time to time credited invoices or refunded revenue to our customers
due to invalid traffic, and we expect to continue to do so in the future. If our systems to detect invalid traffic are insufficient, or if we find new
evidence of past invalid clicks, we may have to issue credits or refunds retroactively to our search advertisers, and we may still have to pay revenue
share to our distribution network partners. This could negatively affect our profitability and hurt our brand. If traffic consisting of invalid clicks is
not detected and removed from our advertising network, the affected search advertising customers may experience a reduced return on their
investment in our online advertising because the invalid clicks will not lead to conversions for the search advertising customers. This could lead the
search advertisers to become dissatisfied with our products, which could lead to loss of search advertising customers and revenue and could
materially and adversely affect our financial results.
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Any failure in the performance of our key production systems could materially and adversely affect our revenues
Any system failure that interrupts our hosted products or services, whether caused by computer viruses, software failure, power interruptions,
intruders and hackers, or other causes, could harm our financial results. For example, our system for tracking and invoicing clicks is dependent
upon a proprietary software platform. If we lose key personnel or experience a failure of software, this system may fail. In such event, we may be
unable to track paid clicks and invoice our customers, which would materially and adversely affect our financial results and business reputation.
Moreover, our services are governed by Service Level Agreements that, if not met, require the payment of credits to our customers depending upon
the level of service interruption.
The occurrence of a natural disaster or unanticipated problems at our principal headquarters or at a third-party data center could cause
interruptions or delays in our business. A loss of data could render us unable to provide some services. Our California facilities exist on or near
known earthquake fault zones and a significant earthquake could cause an interruption in our services.. An interruption in our ability to serve
advertisements, track paid clicks, bill and collect invoices, and provide customer support would materially and adversely affect our financial results.
Our business and operations depend on Internet service providers and third party technology providers, and any failure or system
downtime experienced by these companies could materially and adversely affect our revenues
Our distribution network partners and search advertising customers depend on Internet service providers, online service providers and other
third parties for access to our services. These service providers have experienced significant outages in the past and could experience outages,
delays and other operating difficulties in the future. The occurrence of any or all of these events could adversely affect our reputation, brand and
business, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results.
We currently have an agreement with Raging Wire Enterprise Solutions, Inc. (“Raging Wire”) to house equipment for web serving and
networking and to provide network connectivity services. We also have agreements with third-party click tracking and ad-serving technology
providers. We do not presently maintain fully redundant click tracking, customer account, and web serving systems at separate locations.
Accordingly, our operations depend on Raging Wire to protect the systems in their data centers from system failures, earthquake, fire, power loss,
water damage, telecommunications failure, hackers, vandalism, and similar events. Raging Wire does not guarantee that our Internet access will be
uninterrupted, error-free or secure. Although we maintain property insurance and business interruption insurance, such insurance may not protect
against some risks and we cannot guarantee that our insurance will be adequate to compensate us for all losses that may occur as a result of a
catastrophic system failure. Also, if our third-party click tracking or ad-serving technology providers experience service interruptions, errors or
security breaches, our ability to track, realize, and record revenue would suffer.
We may face liability for claims related to our products and services, and these claims may be costly to resolve
Internet users, search advertisers, other customers, and companies in the Internet, technology and media industries frequently enter into
litigation based on allegations related to defamation, negligence, personal injury, breach of contract, unfair advertising, unfair competition, invasion
of privacy, patent infringement or other claims. Lawsuits are filed against us from time to time. As we enter foreign markets, our potential liability
could increase. In addition, we are obligated in some cases to indemnify our customers or distribution network partners in the event that they are
subject to claims that our services infringe on the rights of others.
Litigating these claims could consume significant amounts of time and money, divert management’s attention and resources, cause delays in
integrating acquired technology or releasing new products, or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements. Royalty or licensing
agreements, if required, may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all. Our insurance may not adequately cover claims of this type, if at all. If a
court were to determine that some aspect of our services infringed upon or violated the rights of others, we could be prevented from offering some
or all of our services, which would negatively impact our revenue and business. For any of the foregoing reasons, litigation involving our listings
business and technology could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.
We could be subject to infringement claims that may be costly to defend, result in the payment of settlements or damages or cause us to
change the way we conduct our business
Internet, technology and media companies, as well as patent holding companies often possess a significant number of patents. Further, many of
these companies and other parties are actively developing online advertising, search, indexing, electronic commerce and other Web-related
technologies, as well as a variety of online business models and methods. We believe that these parties will continue to take steps to protect these
technologies, including, but not limited to, seeking patent protection. As a result, we may face claims of infringement of patents and other
intellectual property rights held by others. Also, as we expand our business, acquire and maintain our customer base, and develop new technologies,
products and services, we may become increasingly subject to intellectual property infringement claims. In the event that there is a claim or
determination that we infringe third-party proprietary rights such as patents, copyrights, trademark rights, trade secret rights or other third party
rights such as publicity and privacy rights, we could incur substantial monetary liability, be required to enter into costly royalty or licensing
agreements or be prevented from using the rights, which could require us to change our business practices in the future and limit our ability to
compete effectively. We may also incur substantial expenses in defending against third-party infringement claims regardless of the merit of such
claims. The occurrence of any of these results could harm our brand and negatively impact our operating results. In addition, many of our
agreements with our customers, partners and affiliates require us to indemnify them for certain third-party intellectual property infringement claims
or determinations, which could increase our costs in defending such claims and our damages. For example, in October 2008, we agreed to
indemnify one of our Publisher Solutions customers relating to a patent infringement suit filed against it pursuant to an AdCenter for Publishers’
agreement between it and the Company. The resulting settlement agreement between the Company and the plaintiffs required us to pay the
plaintiffs $0.6 million and the Publisher Solutions customer’s defense costs of $0.4 million.
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Litigation, regulation, legislation or enforcement actions directed at or materially affecting us may adversely affect the commercial use of
our products and services and our financial results
New lawsuits, laws, regulations and enforcement actions applicable to the online industry may limit the delivery, appearance and content of our
advertising or our publisher customers’ advertisers or otherwise adversely affect our business. If such laws are enacted, or if existing laws are
interpreted to restrict the types and placements of advertisements we or our publishers’ customers can carry, it could have a material and adverse
effect on our financial results. For example, in 2002, the Federal Trade Commission, in response to a petition from a private organization, reviewed
the way in which search engines disclose paid placement or paid inclusion practices to Internet consumers and issued guidance on what disclosures
are necessary to avoid misleading consumers about the possible effects of paid placement or paid inclusion listings on the search results. In 2003,
the United States Department of Justice issued statements indicating its belief that displaying advertisements for online gambling might be
construed as aiding and abetting an illegal activity under federal law. In 2004, the United States Congress considered new laws regarding the sale of
pharmaceutical products over the Internet and the use of adware to distribute advertisements on the Internet. In 2007, the Federal Trade
Commission proposed new regulations relating to online behavioral targeting. Moreover, as we enter into foreign markets, we may become subject
to additional regulation and legislation. If any new law or government agency were to require changes in the labeling, delivery or content of our
advertisements, or if we are subject to legal proceedings regarding these issues, it may reduce the desirability of our services or the types of
advertisements that we can run, and our business could be materially and adversely harmed. In addition, many of our agreements with our
customers, partners and affiliates require us to indemnify them for certain claims related to online advertising laws, regulations and enforcement
actions, which could increase our costs in defending such claims and our damages.
In addition, legislation or regulations, including compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Section 404”), present
ongoing compliance risks, and a failure to comply with these new laws and regulations could materially harm our business. As we continue our
Section 404 compliance efforts we may identify significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses, in the design and operation of our internal control
over financial reporting. We may be unable to remediate any of these matters in a timely fashion, and/or our independent registered public
accounting firm may not agree with our remediation efforts. Such failures could impact our ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information, and could impact market perception of the quality of our financial reporting, which could adversely affect our business and
our stock price.
Privacy-related regulation of the Internet could limit the ways we currently collect and use personal information, which could decrease our
advertising revenues or increase our costs
Internet user privacy has become an issue both in the United States and abroad. The United States Congress and Federal Trade Commission are
considering new legislation and regulations to regulate Internet privacy. The Federal Trade Commission and government agencies in some states
and countries have investigated some Internet companies, and lawsuits have been filed against some Internet companies, regarding their handling or
use of personal information. Any laws imposed to protect the privacy of Internet consumers may affect the way in which we collect and use
personal information. We could incur additional expenses if new laws or court judgments, in the United States or abroad, regarding the use of
personal information are introduced or if any agency chooses to investigate our privacy practices.
In addition, our search advertisers and partners may place information, known as cookies, on a user’s hard drive, generally without the user’s
knowledge or consent. This technology enables web site operators to target specific consumers with a particular advertisement, to limit the number
of times a user is shown a particular advertisement, and to track certain behavioral data. Although some Internet browsers allow consumers to
modify their browser settings to remove cookies at any time or to prevent cookies from being stored on their hard drives, many consumers are not
aware of this option or are not knowledgeable enough to use this option. Some privacy advocates and governmental bodies have suggested limiting
or eliminating the use of cookies. If this technology is reduced or limited, the Internet may become less attractive to search advertisers and sponsors,
which could result in a decline in our revenue.
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We, along with some of our distribution network partners or search advertising customers retain information about our consumers. If others
were able to penetrate the network security of these user databases and access or misappropriate this information, we and our distribution network
partners or search advertising customers could be subject to liability. These claims may result in litigation, our involvement in which, regardless of
the outcome, could require us to expend significant time and financial resources. In addition, many of our agreements with our customers, partners
and affiliates require us to indemnify them for certain claims related to privacy laws, regulations and enforcement actions which could increase our
costs in defending such claims and damages.
Online commerce security risks, including security breaches, identity theft, service disrupting attacks and viruses, could harm our
reputation and the conduct of our business, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results
A fundamental requirement for online commerce and communications is the secure storage and transmission of confidential information over
public networks. Although we have developed and use systems and processes that are designed to protect customer information and prevent
fraudulent credit card transactions and other security breaches, our security measures may not prevent security breaches or identity theft that could
harm our reputation and business. Currently, a significant number of our customers provide credit card and other financial information and
authorize us to bill their credit card accounts directly for all transaction fees charged by us. We rely on encryption and authentication technology to
provide the security and authentication to effect secure transmission of confidential information, including customer credit card numbers. Advances
in computer capabilities, new discoveries in the field of cryptography or other developments may result in a compromise or breach of the
technology used by us to protect transaction data. In addition, any party who is able to illicitly obtain a user’s password could access the user’s
transaction data. An increasing number of websites have reported breaches of their security. Any compromise of our security could damage our
reputation and expose us to a risk of litigation and possible liability. The coverage limits of our insurance policies may not be adequate to reimburse
us for losses caused by security breaches.
Additionally, our servers are vulnerable to computer viruses, physical or electronic break-ins, and similar disruptions, and we have experienced
“denial-of-service” type attacks on our system that have made all or portions of our websites unavailable for periods of time. We may need to
expend significant resources to protect against security breaches or to address problems caused by breaches. Disruptions in our services and damage
caused by viruses and other attacks could cause a loss of user confidence in our systems and services, which could lead to reduced usage of our
products and services and materially adversely affect our business and financial results.
New tax treatment of companies engaged in Internet commerce may adversely affect the commercial use of our search service and our
financial results
Tax authorities at the international, federal, state and local levels are currently reviewing the appropriate tax treatment of companies engaged in
Internet commerce. New or revised state tax regulations may subject us or our search advertising customers to additional state sales, income and
other taxes. We cannot predict the effect of current attempts to impose sales, income or other taxes on commerce over the Internet. New or revised
taxes and, in particular, sales taxes, would likely increase the cost of doing business online and decrease the attractiveness of advertising and selling
goods and services over the Internet. Any of these events could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
Risks Related to the Capital Market
Our securities may be delisted
The NASDAQ Stock Market requires us to satisfy certain continued listing requirements, including maintaining a minimum closing bid price
for our common stock of at least $1.00 per share. No assurance can be given that we will remain in compliance with all of the NASDAQ Stock
Market’s continued listing requirements. If delisting were to occur, our securities will not enjoy the same liquidity as shares that are traded on the
NASDAQ Stock Market or a national U.S. securities exchange and investors may find that it is more difficult to obtain accurate and timely
quotations. As a result, the price of our securities would likely decline.
Our quarterly revenues and operating results may fluctuate for many reasons, each of which may negatively affect our stock price
Our revenues and operating results will likely fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter as a result of a variety of factors, including without
limitation:
• change in the composition of our Advertiser Network customer base,
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

change in composition of our AdCenter customer base,
changes in our distribution network, particularly the gain or loss of key distribution network partners, or changes in the implementation
of search results on partner websites,
changes in the intermediary business model which affect the entire online search advertising ecosystem,
changes in the number of search advertising customers who do business with us, or the amount of spending per customer,
the revenue-per-click we receive from search advertising customers, or other factors that affect the demand for, and prevailing prices of,
Internet advertising and marketing services,
change in our traffic acquisition costs (“TAC”) related to our Advertiser Network, or
systems downtime on our Advertiser Network, our website or the websites of our distribution network partners.

Due to the above factors, we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our financial results are not necessarily meaningful, and you should
not rely on past financial results as an indicator of our future performance. If our financial results in any future period fall below the expectations of
securities analysts and investors, the market price of our securities would likely decline.
Our long-lived assets may be subject to greater risk of impairment if we undergo a change of control limiting the use of our net operating
losses
As of December 31, 2011, we had net operating losses (“NOL”s) amounting to approximately $182 million for federal income tax purposes.
We can utilize these NOLs in certain circumstances to offset future U.S. taxable income and reduce our U.S. federal income tax liability, which
may arise even in periods when we incur an accounting loss for reporting purposes.. However, our ability to utilize our NOLs for these purposes
would be substantially limited if there were an “ownership change” as defined under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. In general, an
ownership change would occur if certain ownership changes related to our stock held by 5% or greater shareholders exceeded 50%, measured over
a rolling three year period beginning with the last ownership change. These provisions can be triggered not only by merger and acquisition activity,
but also by stock repurchases and normal market trading of our common stock. While we have not undergone a change of control under Section 382
since 2003, we were close to the threshold in 2011 and 2010, and no assurance can be given that such a change of control will not occur in the
future. Should we undergo such a change of control, our ability to utilize our NOLs to offset future U.S. taxable income and reduce our U.S. federal
income tax liability may be limited in certain circumstances. This, in turn, would affect our ability to utilize the NOLs in the calculations associated
with testing for impairment of our long-lived assets used in operations, which could result in an increased likelihood of such impairment.
Our stock price is extremely volatile, and such volatility may hinder investors’ ability to resell their shares for a profit or avoid a loss
The stock market has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations in recent years, and the stock prices of Internet companies have
been extremely volatile. The low trading volume of our common stock may adversely affect its liquidity and reduce the number of market makers
and/or large investors willing to trade in our common stock, making wider fluctuations in the quoted price of our common stock more likely to
occur. You should evaluate our business in light of the risks, uncertainties, expenses, delays and difficulties associated with managing and growing
a business in a relatively new industry, many of which are beyond our control.
Our stock price may fluctuate, and you may not be able to sell your shares for a profit, as a result of a number of factors including without
limitation:
• changes in the market valuations of Internet companies in general and comparable companies in particular,
• quarterly fluctuations in our operating results,
• the termination or expiration of our distribution agreements,
• our potential failure to meet our forecasts or analyst expectations on a quarterly basis,
• the relatively thinly traded volume of our publicly traded shares, which means that small changes in the volume of trades may have a
disproportionate impact on our stock price,
• the loss of key personnel, or our inability to recruit experienced personnel to fill key positions,
• changes in ratings or financial estimates by analysts or the inclusion/removal of our stock from certain stock market indices used to drive
investment choices,
• announcements of new distribution network partnerships, technological innovations, acquisitions or products or services by us or our
competitors,
• the sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market by our stockholders, or the perception that such sales could
occur, or
• conditions or trends in the Internet that suggest a decline in rates of growth of advertising-based Internet companies.
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In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted after periods of volatility in the market price of a Company’s securities. A
securities class action suit against us could result in substantial costs and the diversion of management’s attention and resources, regardless of the
merits or outcome of the case.
We may need additional capital in the future to support our operations and, if such additional financing is not available to us, on
reasonable terms or at all, our liquidity and results of operations will be materially and adversely impacted
Although we believe that our working capital will provide adequate liquidity to fund our operations and meet our other cash requirements for
the foreseeable future, unanticipated developments in the short term, such as the entry into agreements which require large cash payments or the
acquisition of businesses with negative cash flows, may necessitate additional financing. We may seek to raise additional capital through public or
private debt or equity financings in order to:
• fund the additional operations and capital expenditures,
• take advantage of favorable business opportunities, including geographic expansion or acquisitions of complementary businesses or
technologies,
• develop and upgrade our technology infrastructure beyond current plans,
• develop new product and service offerings,
• take advantage of favorable conditions in capital markets, or
• respond to competitive pressures.
The capital markets, and in particular the public equity market for Internet companies, have historically been volatile. It is difficult to predict
when, if at all, it will be possible for Internet companies to raise capital through these markets. We cannot assure you that the additional financing
will be available on terms favorable to us, or at all. If we issue additional equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders may
experience substantial dilution.
Provisions of Delaware corporate law and provisions of our charter and bylaws may discourage a takeover attempt
Our charter and bylaws and provisions of Delaware law may deter or prevent a takeover attempt, including an attempt that might result in a
premium over the market price for our common stock. Our board of directors has the authority to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine
the price, rights, preferences and restrictions, including voting rights, of those shares without any further vote or action by the stockholders. The
issuance of preferred stock, while providing desirable flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could have
the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire a majority of our outstanding voting stock. In addition, our charter and bylaws
provide for a classified board of directors. These provisions, along with Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, prohibiting certain
business combinations with an interested stockholder, could discourage potential acquisition proposals and could delay or prevent a change of
control.
ITEM 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

The Company subleases 19,997 square feet of office space for our headquarters in San Francisco, California, under an operating lease expiring
on December 30, 2014. In addition to scheduled base rent payments, the Company will also be responsible for varying amounts of operating and
property tax expenses.
The Company leases a sales office in New York, New York on a month to month basis.
The Company leases temporary offices in Los Angeles, California with a term expiring in August 2012.
The Company maintains a data center in Sacramento, California, under a Master Service Agreement and related Service Level Agreement that
expires in January 2013.
The Company leases office space in Kitchener, Canada of approximately of 5,222 square feet that houses our Engineering and Support teams.
The lease has a constant term of six months.
We believe our existing facilities are suitable for company operations.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is involved, from time to time, in various legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business activities. Although the
results of litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not expect resolution of these matters to have a material adverse impact on
our consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial position. However, an unfavorable resolution of a matter could, depending on its
amount and timing, materially affect our future results of operations, cash flows or financial position in a future period. Regardless of the outcome,
litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.
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ITEM 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable.
PART II
ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

LookSmart, Ltd. common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “LOOK”. The following table sets forth the range of
high and low sales prices of the common stock on the Nasdaq Global Market for each period indicated:
HIGH
2011
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter
2010
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter

LOW

$
$
$
$

2.26
2.23
1.67
1.42

$
$
$
$

1.47
1.39
1.30
1.17

$
$
$
$

1.16
1.95
2.35
2.48

$
$
$
$

0.88
0.96
1.15
1.86

LookSmart had approximately 4,762 holders of record of common stock as of March 21, 2012. We have not declared or paid any cash
dividends on the common stock and presently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to fund the development and growth of our business and,
therefore, do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Uses of Proceeds from Registered Securities
We had no sales of unregistered securities in 2011 and 2010.
ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

As a smaller reporting company, as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), we are
not required to provide the information required by this item.
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ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

•

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to those statements that
appear elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

•

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

•

We use words such as “intends,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “may,” “will” and similar expressions to identify forward-looking
statements.

•

Discussions containing forward-looking statements may be found in the material set forth under “Business,” “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and in other sections of this report.

•

All forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, projections, expectations or estimates concerning our business, including
demand for our products and services, mix of revenue sources, ability to control and/or reduce operating expenses, anticipated gross
margins and operating results, cost savings, product development efforts, general outlook of our business and industry, future profits or
losses, competitive position, share-based compensation, and adequate liquidity to fund our operations and meet our other cash
requirements, are inherently uncertain as they are based on our expectations and assumptions concerning future events.

•

These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous known and unknown risks and uncertainties.

•

You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.

•

Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements for many reasons, including but not
limited to,

•

o

the possibility that we may fail to preserve our expertise in online advertising,

o

that existing and potential distribution partners may opt to work with, or favor the products of, competitors if our competitors
offer more favorable products or pricing terms,

o

that we may be unable to maintain or grow sources of revenue,

o

that seasonal fluctuations in internet usage and traditional advertising seasonality are likely to affect our business,

o

that changes in the distribution network composition may lead to decreases in traffic volumes,

o

that we may be unable to maintain or improve our query volume, match rate, number of paid clicks, average revenue per click,
conversion rate or other ad network metrics,

o

that we may be unable to maintain profitability,

o

that we may be unable to attract and retain key personnel,

o

that we may not be able to effectively manage, or to increase, our relationships with international customers,

o

that we may have unexpected increases in costs and expenses, or

o

that one or more of the other risks described above in the section entitled “Risk Factors” (Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form
10-K) and elsewhere in this report may occur.

All forward-looking statements in this report are made as of the date hereof, based on information available to us as of the date hereof,
and except as required by applicable law, we assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statements.
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OVERVIEW
LookSmart is a search advertising network solutions company that provides relevant solutions for search advertising customers. LookSmart
was organized in 1996 and is incorporated in the State of Delaware.
LookSmart operates in a large online search advertising ecosystem serving ads that target user queries on partner sites. We operate in the
middle of this ecosystem, acquiring search queries from a variety of sources and matching them with the keywords of our search advertising
customers. Our largest category of customers has historically been intermediaries, the majority of which purchase clicks to sell into the affiliate
networks of the large search engine providers. Another category of customers are direct advertisers and their agencies whose objective is to obtain
conversions or sales from the clicks, while others want unique page views. The last category of customers is self-service advertisers that sign-up
online and pay by credit card.
In 2011, revenue from Intermediaries decreased significantly compared to 2010. The decrease was primary driven by a revenue decrease
throughout the year, including a significant decrease in the fourth quarter due to revenue chargebacks to our Intermediary customers by large
search engine providers. This had a severe impact to Intermediary business models and consequently the business they conduct with us. We
have ceased business with several Intermediaries as a result and we do not expect significant future growth in Intermediary business. Our future
growth will come largely from Direct Advertisers, Self-Service Advertisers and other digital advertising models we may consider.
LookSmart offers search advertising customers targeted search via a monitored search advertising distribution network using the Company’s
“AdCenter” platform technology. The Company’s search advertising network includes publishers and search advertising customers, including
Intermediaries and direct advertising customers and their agencies as well as self-service customers in the United States and certain other countries.
The Company’s application programming interface (“API”) allows search advertising customers and their advertising agencies to connect any type
of marketing or reporting software with minimal effort, for easier access, management, and optimization of search advertising campaigns.
LookSmart also offers publishers licensed private-label search advertiser network solutions based on its AdCenter platform technology
(“Publisher Solutions”). Publisher Solutions consist of hosted auction-based ad serving with an ad backfill capability that allows publishers and
portals to manage their advertiser relationships, distribution channels and accounts.
In the first quarter of 2008, management made the decision to exit its remaining consumer products activities and to sell or otherwise dispose of
the Company's remaining consumer assets. The results of operations of consumer product activities, including related gains (losses), have been
classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations, as more fully described
in Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements below. At December 31, 2011, the Company continues to own the Wisenut search engine
technology, intellectual property rights in such technology, and other assets.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our financial condition and results of operations are based upon certain critical accounting policies, which include estimates, assumptions, and
judgments on the part of management. We base our estimates on various factors and information which may include, but are not limited to, history
and prior experience, experience of other enterprises in the same industry, new related events, current economic conditions and information from
third party professionals that is believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about
the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. These estimates, judgments and assumptions can affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the periods presented. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
The following discussion highlights those policies and the underlying estimates and assumptions, which we consider critical to an
understanding of the financial information in this report.
Use of Estimates and Assumptions
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
(“GAAP”). This requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue,
expenses, and contingent assets and liabilities during the reporting period. We base our estimates on various factors and information which may
include, but are not limited to, history and prior experience, experience of other enterprises in the same industry, new related events, and current
economic conditions and information from third party professionals that is believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
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Investments
We invest our excess cash primarily in debt instruments of high-quality corporate and government issuers. All highly liquid instruments with
maturities at the date of purchase greater than ninety days are considered investments. All instruments with maturities greater than one year from
the balance sheet date are considered long-term investments unless management intends to liquidate such securities in the current operating cycle.
Such securities are classified as short-term investments. These securities are classified as available-for-sale and carried at fair value.
Changes in value of these investments are primarily related to changes in interest rates and are considered to be temporary in nature. Except for
declines in fair value that are not considered temporary, net unrealized gains or losses on these investments are reported as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity. We recognize realized gains and losses upon sale of investments using the
specific identification method.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Our estimates of fair value for assets and liabilities is based on a framework that establishes a hierarchy of the inputs used in valuation and
gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets and requires that observable inputs be used in the valuations when available. The
disclosure of fair value estimates is based on whether the significant inputs into the valuation are observable. In determining the level of the
hierarchy in which the estimate is disclosed, the highest priority is given to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to
unobservable inputs that reflect our significant market assumptions. The three levels of the hierarchy are as follows:
Level 1:

Unadjusted quoted market prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that we have the ability to access.

Level 2:

Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets in inactive markets;
or valuations based on models where the significant inputs are observable (e.g., interest rates, yield curves, default rates, etc.)
or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3:

Valuations based on models where significant inputs are not observable. The unobservable inputs reflect our assumptions
about the assumptions that market participants would use.

Revenue Recognition
Our online search advertising revenue is primarily composed of per-click fees that we charge customers. The per-click fee charged for
keyword-targeted listings is calculated based on the results of online bidding for keywords or page content, up to a maximum cost per keyword or
page content set by the customer. Revenue also includes revenue share from licensing of private-labeled versions of our AdCenter Platform.
Revenues associated with online advertising products, including Advertiser Networks, are generally recognized once collectability is
established, delivery of services has occurred, all performance obligations have been satisfied, and no refund obligations exist. We pay distribution
network partners based on clicks on the advertiser’s ad that are displayed on the websites of these distribution network partners. These payments are
called TAC and are included in cost of revenue. The revenue derived from these arrangements that involve traffic supplied by distribution network
partners is reported gross of the payment to the distribution network partners. This revenue is reported gross due to the fact that we are the primary
obligor to the advertisers who are the customers of the advertising service.
We also enter into agreements to provide private-labeled versions of our products, including licenses to the AdCenter platform technology.
These license arrangements may include some or all of the following elements: revenue-sharing based on the publisher’s customer’s monthly
revenue generated through the AdCenter application; upfront fees; minimum monthly fees; and other license fees. We recognize upfront fees over
the term of the arrangement or the expected period of performance, other license fees over the term of the license, and revenue-sharing portions
over the period in which such revenue is earned. In all cases, revenue is recognized only when the price is fixed or determinable, persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, the service is performed, and collectability of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured.
We provide a provision against revenue for estimated reductions resulting from billing adjustments and customer refunds. The amounts of
these provisions are evaluated periodically based upon customer experience and historical trends.
Deferred revenue is recorded when payments are received in advance of performance in underlying agreements. Customer deposits are
recorded when customers make prepayments for online advertising.
The Company evaluates individual arrangements with customers to make a determination under Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 605-45 Revenue Recognition . We test and record revenue accordingly.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from customers failing to make required payments. This
valuation allowance is reviewed on a periodic basis to determine whether a provision or reversal is required. The review is based on factors
including the application of historical collection rates to current receivables and economic conditions. We will record an increase or reduction of the
allowance for doubtful accounts if collection rates or economic conditions are more or less favorable than we anticipated. Additional allowances for
doubtful accounts may be required if there is deterioration in past due balances, if economic conditions are less favorable than we anticipated or for
customer-specific circumstances, such as bankruptcy.
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Concentrations, Credit Risk and Credit Risk Evaluation
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents, investments, and accounts
receivable. As of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, we placed our cash equivalents and investments through one financial institution,
City National Bank (“CNB”), and mitigated the concentration of credit risk by placing percentage limits on the maximum portion of the investment
portfolio which may be invested in any one investment instrument. These amounts at times may exceed federally insured limits. We have not
experienced any credit losses on these cash equivalents and investment accounts and do not believe we are exposed to any significant credit risk on
these funds. The fair value of these accounts is subject to fluctuation based on market prices.
Credit Risk, Customer and Vendor Evaluation
Accounts receivable are typically unsecured and are derived from sales to customers. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers
and maintain allowances for estimated credit losses. We apply judgment as to our ability to collect outstanding receivables based primarily on our
evaluation of the customer’s financial condition and past collection history and record a specific allowance. In addition, we record an allowance
based on the length of time the receivables are past due. Historically, such losses have been within our expectations.
Revenue Concentrations
Our largest category of customers has been Intermediaries, the majority of which purchase clicks to sell into the affiliate networks of large
search engine providers. In the future, we expect revenue concentration associated with Intermediary customers to be smaller due to an overall
decrease in Intermediary revenues and relationships.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
We review long-lived assets held or used in operations, including property and equipment and internally developed software, for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. Subject assets are tested
for impairment at the lowest level of operations that generates cash flows that are largely independent of the cash flows from those of other groups
of assets and liabilities. We have determined that the equity of our single reporting unit to be the lowest level of operation at which independent
cash flows could be identified. An impairment loss is recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of
the asset and its eventual disposition is less than its carrying amount. Impairment, if any, is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount
of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to dispose.
As of December 31, 2011, there was no impairment of long-lived assets.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Computer equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Software

3 to 4 years
5 to 7 years
2 to 3 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term.
When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from their respective
accounts, and any gain or loss on such sale or disposal is reflected in operating expenses. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as
incurred. Expenditures that substantially increase an asset’s useful life are capitalized.
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Internal Use Software Development Costs
We capitalize external direct costs of materials and services consumed in developing and obtaining internal-use computer software and the
payroll and payroll-related costs of employees who devote time to developing internal-use computer software.
We exercise judgment in determining when costs related to a project may be capitalized, in assessing the ongoing value of the capitalized costs,
and in determining the amortization period for the capitalized costs, which is generally 3 years. We expect to continue to invest in internally
developed software and to capitalize such costs.
Restructuring Charges
On January 7, 2011 our Board of Directors approved a plan of termination that resulted in a reduction of the workforce of approximately 20
full-positions, or approximately 35%. In January 2011, the Company recorded $889 thousand in pre-tax restructuring charges associated with the
termination of approximately 20 full-time positions. All restructuring charges have been classified as such on the Consolidated Statement of
Operations.
Traffic Acquisition Costs
We enter into agreements of varying durations with our distribution network partners that display our listings ads on their sites in return for a
percentage of the revenue-per-click that we receive when the ads are clicked on those partners’ sites.
We also enter into agreements of varying durations with third party affiliates. These affiliate agreements provide for variable payments based
on a percentage of our revenue or based on a certain metric, such as number of searches or paid clicks.
TAC expense is recorded in cost of revenue, and is based on a percentage of revenue.
Advertising Costs are charged to sales and marketing expenses as incurred.
Product Development Costs of new product ideas and enhancements to existing products are charged to expense as incurred.
Share-Based Compensation
We recognize share-based compensation costs for all share-based payment transactions, including grants of stock options and employee stock
purchases related to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, over the requisite service period based on their relative fair values. We estimate the fair
value of share-based payment awards on the grant date using the Black-Scholes method. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately
expected to vest is recognized as expense in our Consolidated Statement of Operations over the requisite service periods.
Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant in order to estimate the amount of share-based awards that will ultimately vest. The forfeiture rate
is determined at the end of each fiscal quarter, based on historical rates.
We elected to adopt the alternative transition method for calculating the tax effects of share-based compensation to establish the beginning
balance of the additional paid-in capital pool (“APIC pool”) related to the tax effects of employee share-based compensation, and to determine the
subsequent impact on the APIC pool and the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows of the tax effects of employee share-based compensation
awards.
Income Taxes
We account for income taxes using the liability method. Under the liability method, deferred tax liabilities and assets are determined based on
the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the
differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to
be realized. We record liabilities, where appropriate, for all uncertain income tax positions. We recognize potential accrued interest and penalties
related to unrecognized tax benefits within operations as income tax expense.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
For a description of recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements below.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Overview of 2011
The following table sets forth selected information concerning our results of operations as a percentage of consolidated net revenue for the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Product development and technical
operations
General and administrative
Restructuring charge
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Non-operating income (expense), net
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes
Income tax expense
Income (loss) from continuing
operations
Income from discontinued operations,
net of income taxes
Net income (loss)

$

$

2011
27,634
15,195
12,439

% of
Revenue
100.0% $
55.0%
45.0%

Year Ended December 31,
% of
Dollar
2010
Revenue
Change
47,479
100.0% $
(19,845)
28,832
60.7%
(13,637)
18,647
39.3%
(6,208)

%
Change
(42%)
(47%)
(33%)

2,332

8.4%

4,331

9.1%

(1,999)

(46%)

6,742
5,312
889
15,275
(2,836)
331

24.4%
19.2%
3.2%
55.2%
(10.2%)
1.2%

9,039
4,635
18,005
642
(20)

19.0%
9.8%
0.0%
37.9%
1.4%
(0.1%)

(2,297)
677
889
(2,730)
(3,478)
351

(25%)
15%
0%
(15%)
(542%)
(1755%)

(2,505)
(3)

(9.0%)
0.0%

622
(5)

1.3%
0.0%

(3,127)
2

(503%)
(40%)

(2,508)

(9.0%)

617

1.3%

(3,125)

(506%)

(2,508)

0.0%
(9.0%) $

358
975

0.8%
2.1% $

(358)
(3,483)

(100%)
(357%)

During 2011, revenue decreased 42%, gross profit margin increased six percentage points resulting in a 33% decrease in gross profit. Operating
expenses, excluding restructuring charges, decreased 20% from 2010. The reduction of $3.5 million from net income of $1.0 million in 2010 is
primarily due to reduction in revenue partially offset by reductions in TAC and operating expenses.
In 2011, revenue from Intermediaries decreased significantly compared to 2010. This decrease was the primary driver of the revenue
decrease and was a result of changes in the search ecosystem that had a severe impact on the Intermediary business models and consequently the
business they conduct with us. We have ceased business with several Intermediaries as a result and we do not expect significant future growth
in the Intermediary business.
The following developments during 2011 were key to our business performance:
•
•
•

A significant change in the search ecosystem that resulted in lower 2011 Advertiser Network revenues.
A January 2011 restructuring of our operations, including a 35% headcount reduction.
Establishment and staffing of an Engineering and Support office in Kitchener, Canada and a Sales and Support office in Los Angeles.

Revenue
Revenue is derived from our two service offerings or “products”: Advertiser Networks and Publisher Solutions. Total revenue and revenue
from Advertiser Networks and Publisher Solutions for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, were as follows (in thousands) :

Advertiser Networks
Publisher Solutions
Total revenue

$
$

2011
26,388
1,246
27,634

Year Ended December 31,
% of
Dollar
2010
Revenue
Change
95% $
44,373
93% $
(17,985)
5%
3,106
7%
(1,860)
100% $
47,479
100% $
(19,845)

% of
Revenue

%
Change
(41%)
(60%)
(42%)
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Advertiser Networks
In 2011, revenue from Intermediaries decreased significantly compared to 2010. This decrease was the primary driver of the revenue drop and
was a result of changes in the search ecosystem that had a severe impact on Intermediary business models and consequently the business they
conduct with us. We have ceased business with several Intermediaries as a result and we do not expect significant future growth in the Intermediary
business. We expect our revenue growth in 2012 and beyond to come largely from direct advertisers, self-service advertisers and other digital
advertising models under development.
Publisher Solutions
In October 2010, a platform license with IAC Search and Media, Inc. (“IAC”) expired. The decrease in Publisher Solutions revenue is
attributed to this expiration.
In 2011, we were dependent upon a few customers for a significant percentage of our Publisher Solutions revenue. For that year, two customers
combined to account for 22% of Publisher Solutions net revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2010, two customers combined to account for
25% of Publisher Solutions net revenue.
We do not expect significant future revenue growth from Intermediaries. Our future growth will come largely from Direct Advertisers, SelfService Advertisers and other digital advertising models we may consider.
Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit
Cost of revenue, consisting of TAC, costs paid to our distribution network partners, collocation costs, commissions paid to advertising
agencies, and credit card fees for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 which were as follows (in thousands) :

Traffic acquisition costs
Other costs
Total cost of revenue

$
$

2011
13,640
1,555
15,195

Traffic acquisition costs as
percentage of Advertiser
Networks revenue

% of
Revenue

Year Ended December 31,
% of
Dollar
2010
Revenue
Change
49% $
26,836
57% $
(13,196)
6%
1,996
4%
(441)
55% $
28,832
61% $
(13,637)

51.7%

%
Change
(49%)
(22%)
(47%)

60.5%

TAC decreased as a result of the revenue declines and as a percentage of associated revenue due to optimization of bids/prices paid for
different sources of traffic and keywords.
Our other costs of revenue, which consists of network operating costs and credit card processing fees, decreased due to the decrease in revenue.
Operating Expenses
Operating expenses, consisting of sales and marketing, product development and technical operations, general and administrative and
restructuring charges, for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 which were as follows (in thousands) :

Sales and marketing
Product development and technical
operations
General and administrative
Restructuring charge
Total operating expenses

$

2011
2,332

$

6,742
5,312
889
15,275

% of
Revenue

Year Ended December 31,
% of
Dollar
2010
Revenue
Change
8% $
4,331
9% $
(1,999)
25%
19%
3%
55% $

9,039
4,635
18,005

19%
10%
0%
38% $

(2,297)
677
889
(2,730)

%
Change
(46%)
(25%)
15%
0%
(15%)

In January 2011, the Company recorded $889 thousand in pre-tax restructuring charges associated with the termination of approximately 20
full-time positions. All restructuring charges have been classified as such in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
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Share-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was allocated as follows (in thousands):

Sales and marketing
Product development and technical operations
General and administrative
Total share-based compensation expense
Amounts capitalized as software development costs
Total share-based compensation

$

$

Year Ended
December 31,
2011
2010
19 $
150
192
361
20
381 $

69
322
288
679
41
720

Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing expenses include salaries, commissions, share-based compensation and other costs of employment for our sales force,
sales administration and customer service staff and marketing personnel, overhead, facilities and allocation of depreciation. Sales and marketing
expenses also include the costs of advertising, trade shows, public relations activities and various other activities supporting our customer
acquisition efforts.
The reduction in sales and marketing expenses for the year is primarily due to lower compensation related expense associated with lower
headcount and a reduction in consulting and professional services.
Product Development and Technical Operations
Product development and technical operations expense includes all costs related to the continued operations, development and enhancement of
our core technology product, the AdCenter platform. The AdCenter is used to operate both our own Advertiser Network and other publishers’ client
networks, and is licensed to publishers to operate their own network. These costs include salaries and associated costs of employment, including
share-based compensation, overhead, and facilities. Costs related to the development of software for internal use in the business, including salaries
and associated costs of employment are capitalized after certain milestones have been achieved and amortized over a three year period once the
project is placed in service. Software licensing and computer equipment depreciation related to supporting product development and technical
operations functions are also included in product development and technical operations expense.
Capitalized software development costs include the costs to develop software for internal use, excluding costs associated with research, training
and testing.
Product development and technical operations and capitalized software development costs for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
were as follows (in thousands) :

2011
Product development and technical
operations costs
Capitalized software development costs
Total product development and
technical operations expense

Year Ended December 31,
% of
2010
Revenue

% of
Revenue

Dollar
Change

%
Change

$

7,224
(482)

26% $
(2%)

9,746
(707)

21% $
(2%)

(2,522)
225

(26%)
(32%)

$

6,742

24% $

9,039

19% $

(2,297)

(25%)

The reduction in product development and technical operations expense, net of capitalized software development costs for the year ended
December 31, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010, is primarily attributed to lower operating expense associated with Canada based
Engineering.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses are comparable between 2011 and 2010 and include costs of executive management, human
resources, finance, and facilities personnel. These costs include salaries and associated costs of employment, including share-based
compensation, overhead, facilities and allocation of depreciation. General and administrative expenses also include legal, insurance, tax and
accounting, bad-debt expense, consulting and professional services fees. In 2011, bad debt expense increased as we reserved the accounts
receivables for several Intermediaries with which we ceased business.
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Other items
The table below sets forth other continuing operations data for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

2011
Non-operating income (expense), net
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income, net
Total non-operating income (expense),
net
Income tax expense

Year Ended December 31,
% of
2010
Revenue

% of
Revenue

Dollar
Change

%
Change

$

89
(81)
323

0% $
0%
1%

68
(148)
60

0% $
0%
0%

21
67
263

31%
(45%)
438%

$

331

1% $

(20)

0% $

351

(1755%)

0% $

(5)

0% $

2

(40%)

$

(3)

Interest Income and Expense
Interest income, which includes income from our cash, cash equivalents and investments, increased 31% in the year ended December 31, 2011
from the year ended December 31, 2010. This increase was driven by an increase in average yields earned during the period.
Interest expense decreased $67 thousand in 2011, as compared to 2010, primarily due to maturing capital equipment leases.
Income Tax Expense
Due to our utilizable net operating losses, our income tax expense primarily consists of minimum state taxes.
Other Income, Net
In 2008, the Company established a Settlement Fund related to a class action lawsuit in which the Company was named as a defendant, Lane’s
Gifts and Collectibles, L.L.C., v. Yahoo! Inc (the “Fund”). In the second quarter of 2011, the Company determined that all settlements related to the
Fund had been paid. The Fund was closed on June 30, 2011 and the Company recorded $0.3 million in non-operating income related to the closure.
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax
In the first quarter of 2008, the Company’s management made the decision to exit the remaining consumer products activities and to sell or
otherwise dispose of its remaining consumer assets. The various remaining related websites and assets associated with the consumer products
activities met the criteria to be classified as discontinued operations. The results of operations related to assets to be disposed of, and of previously
disposed assets, including any related gains and losses are classified as discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Operations.
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax, for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was zero and $0.4 million, respectively.
In January 2007, we completed the sale of Net Nanny to Content Watch, Inc. (“Content Watch”). The sale proceeds were comprised of
contingent purchase consideration that may be realized at future dates based on the amount of revenue received by Content Watch. We recorded
contingent purchase consideration of $0.4 for the year ended December 31, 2010. Under the terms of the Content Watch agreement, the contingent
purchase consideration ended December 31, 2010. Contingent purchase consideration has been classified as gain on disposal.
During 2008, we sold the Wisenut trademark and related domain names. As of December 31, 2011, we continue to own the Wisenut search
engine technology and its intellectual property rights in such technology and other assets.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash flows were as follows (in thousands) :
Year Ended December 31,
2010
Change
(42) $
2,605 $
(2,647)
(3,080)
(2,041)
(1,039)
(1,047)
(1,378)
331
(4,169) $
(814) $
(3,355)

2011
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents

$

$

Cash, cash equivalent and short- and long-term marketable investment balances were as follows as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 (in
thousands) :

Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Long-term investments
Total
% of total assets
Total assets

$

$
$

December 31,
2011
2010
Change
17,950 $
22,119 $
(4,169)
6,809
3,250
3,559
1,577
(1,577)
24,759 $
26,946 $
(2,187)
82%
75%
30,112 $
35,725

At December 31, 2011, we had $24.8 million of cash, cash equivalents and short-term marketable investments. Cash equivalents and short-term
marketable investments are comprised of highly liquid debt instruments of the U.S. government, commercial paper, time deposits, money market
mutual funds and U.S. corporate securities. We actively monitor the depository institutions that hold our cash and cash equivalents and the
institutions of whose debt instruments we hold. Our investment policy, which is reviewed annually by our Board of Directors, primarily emphasizes
safety of principal while secondarily maximizing yield on those funds. We can provide no assurances that access to our invested cash and cash
equivalents will not be impacted by adverse conditions in the financial markets. These balances may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation insurance limits. While we monitor the cash balances in our operating accounts and adjust the cash balances as appropriate, these cash
balances could be impacted if the underlying financial institutions fail or could be subject to other adverse conditions in the financial markets. Note
3 to our Consolidated Financial Statements below, further describes the composition of our cash, cash equivalents and short- and long-term
investments.
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments decreased $2.2 million in 2011 primarily due to operating losses, the January 2011
restructuring, the purchase of property and equipment, payments of capital lease obligations and the decrease of working capital.
Our primary source of liquidity is our cash, cash equivalents, short and long-term investments, and cash flow from operations. We believe that
our existing cash, cash equivalents, short and long-term investments and cash from operations will be sufficient to satisfy our current anticipated
cash requirements through at least the next 12 months, if not longer. Our liquidity could be negatively affected by a decrease in demand for our
services beyond the current quarter, and changes in customer buying behavior. Also, if the banking system or the financial markets continue to
remain volatile, our investment portfolio may be impacted and the values and liquidity of our investments could be adversely affected. In addition,
we may seek to raise additional capital through public or private debt or equity financings in order to fund our operations and capital expenditures,
take advantage of favorable business opportunities, develop and upgrade our technology infrastructure, develop new product and service offerings,
take advantage of favorable conditions in capital markets or respond to competitive pressures. In addition, unanticipated developments in the short
term requiring cash payments, including the acquisition of businesses with negative cash flows, may necessitate additional financing. We cannot be
assured that additional financing will be available on terms favorable to us, or at all. If we issue additional equity or convertible debt securities, our
existing stockholders may experience substantial dilution.
Operating Activities
Cash provided by operating activities in the year ended December 31, 2011 consisted of our net loss adjusted for certain non-cash items,
including depreciation, amortization, share-based compensation expense, loss on sale of assets, as well as the effect of changes in working
capital and other activities. Cash used by operations in the year ended December 31, 2011 was $0.04 million and consisted of a net loss of $2.5
million, adjustments for non-cash items of $3.3 million and cash used by working capital and other activities of $0.8 million. Adjustments for
non-cash items primarily consisted of $2.7 million of depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment and internally
developed software, $0.5 million bad debt expense and $0.4 million of share-based compensation expense, partially offset by a $0.3 million gain
on the closure of a settlement fund. In addition, changes in working capital activities primarily consisted of a $2.1 million decrease in accounts
payable and accrued liabilities, partially offset by a net decrease of $1.1 million in accounts receivable. The decrease in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities was primarily due to reduced TAC and operating expenses. The decrease in account receivable is primarily attributed to a
decrease in invoiced customer revenue.
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Cash provided by operating activities in the year ended December 31, 2010 consisted of our net income adjusted for certain non-cash items,
including depreciation, amortization, share-based compensation expense, gains on sale of assets, as well as the effect of changes in working capital
and other activities. Cash provided by operations in the year ended December 31, 2010 was $2.6 million and consisted of a net income of $1.0
million, adjustments for non-cash items of $3.3 million and cash used by working capital and other activities of $1.6 million. Adjustments for noncash items primarily consisted of $2.9 million of depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment and internally developed
software and $0.7 million of share-based compensation expense, partially offset by a $0.4 million gain on sale of assets. In addition, changes in
working capital activities primarily consisted of a $2.3 million decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, partially offset by a net decrease
of $0.7 million in accounts receivable. The decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities was primarily due to reduced TAC and operating
expenses. The decrease in account receivable is primarily attributed to a decrease in invoiced customer revenue.
Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2011 of $3.0 million was primarily attributed to $2.1 million in purchase
of investments in excess of sale of investments to $1.1 million of capital expenditures, partially offset by $0.1 million of proceeds related to the sale
of certain consumer assets. Capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2011 consisted of $0.6 million for equipment acquired during
2011 and an investment of $0.5 million in internally developed software related to our AdCenter platform technology.
Cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2010 of $2.0 million was primarily attributed to $2.4 million of capital
expenditures, partially offset by $0.4 million of proceeds related to the sale of certain consumer assets. Capital expenditures for the year ended
December 31, 2010 consisted of $0.8 million for equipment received in 2009, for which a liability was accrued in 2009, $0.9 million for equipment
acquired during 2010, and an investment of $0.7 million in internally developed software related to our AdCenter platform technology.
Financing Activities
Cash used by financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2011 of $1.0 million is primarily attributed to $1.1 million in scheduled
capital lease payments, partially offset by $0.1 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock.
Cash used by financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2010 of $1.4 million is attributed to scheduled capital lease payments.
Credit Arrangements
We have outstanding standby letters of credit (“SBLC”) issued by City National Bank (“CNB”) of approximately $0.2 million at December 31,
2011, related to security of our corporate office lease.
Under the initial master equipment lease agreement with CNB, our available limit was $4.9 million. As of December 31, 2011, our
outstanding balance was $0.7 million.
Our agreements with CNB, consisting of the SBLC and master equipment lease agreement, contain cross-default provisions whereby a default
under one is deemed a default for the other, and are secured by a general lien on all assets of the Company. As of December 31, 2011, we are in
compliance with both agreements with CNB.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in Regulation S-K Item 303(a)(4), investments in special-purpose entities or
undisclosed borrowings or debt. Additionally, we are not a party to any derivative contracts or synthetic leases.
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
We incur various contractual obligations and commercial commitments in our normal course of business. The following table summarizes our
significant contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of December 31, 2011, and the effect such obligations are expected to have on
our liquidity and cash flows in future periods ( in thousands ):

Operating lease obligations
Capital lease obligations (principal and interest)
Purchase obligations

$

$

Total
1,701
684
42
2,427

Less than
1 year
$
608
540
42
$
1,190

1-3 years
1,093
144
$
1,237
$

3-5 years
$

$

Thereafter
-

$

$

-

Operating Leases
On August 31, 2009, we entered into an agreement to sublease office space for our headquarters in San Francisco, California, that expires in
December 2014. In addition to scheduled base rent payments, we will also be responsible for varying amounts of operating and tax expenses. These
operating expenses are not included in the table above.
The Company leases a sales office in New York, New York on a month to month basis.
The Company leases temporary offices in Los Angeles, California with a term expiring in August 2012.
The Company leases office space in Kitchener, Canada of approximately of 5,222 square feet. The lease has a constant term of six months.
Capital Leases
We have acquired various network operating equipment under capital leases with remaining terms from 3 to 14 months.
Purchase Obligations
Purchase obligations of about $42 thousand represent open purchase orders for which we have not received the related services or goods and
non-cancelable contractual obligations at December 31, 2011. Our non-cancelable contractual obligations are related to data center operations.
Indemnification
We have agreements whereby we indemnify our officers and directors for certain events or occurrences while the officer or director is, or was,
serving, at our request, in such capacity, to the maximum extent permitted under the laws of the State of Delaware. The maximum potential amount
of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited. However, we maintain directors and officers
insurance coverage that may contribute, up to certain limits, a portion of any future amounts paid for indemnification of directors and officers. We
believe the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements in excess of applicable insurance coverage is minimal. Historically, we have
not incurred any losses or recorded any liabilities related to performance under these types of indemnities.
Additionally, in the normal course of business, we have made certain guarantees, indemnities and commitments under which we may be
required to make payments in relation to certain transactions. These indemnities include intellectual property and other indemnities to our customers
and distribution network partners in connection with the sales of our products, and indemnities to various lessors in connection with facility leases
for certain claims arising from such facility or lease. It is not possible to determine the maximum potential loss under these guarantees, indemnities
and commitment due to our limited history of prior indemnification claims and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular
provision.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of
Looksmart, Ltd.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Looksmart, Ltd. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. Our audits also included the financial
statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (a). These consolidated financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our
audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
Looksmart, Ltd. as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set
forth therein.
/s/ Moss Adams LLP
San Francisco, California
March 28, 2012
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LOOKSMART, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share data)
December 31,
2011
2010
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments
Trade accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Long-term investments
Property and equipment, net
Capitalized software and other assets, net
Total assets
LIABILITIES & STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Trade accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue and customer deposits
Current portion of capital lease obligations
Total current liabilities
Capital lease and other obligations, net of current portion
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; Authorized: 5,000 shares at December 31, 2011 and 2010;
Issued and Outstanding: none at December 31, 2011 and 2010
Common stock, $0.001 par value; Authorized: 80,000 shares at December 31, 2011 and 2010; Issued and
Outstanding: 17,288 shares and 17,222 shares at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

$

$

$

17,950
6,809
24,759
1,588
604
26,951
1,941
1,220
30,112

$

1,682
895
1,143
515
4,235
296
4,531
-

$

$

-

$

17
262,201
(24)
(236,613)
25,581
30,112 $

22,119
3,250
25,369
3,267
680
29,316
1,577
3,082
1,750
35,725

2,503
2,615
1,004
1,048
7,170
902
8,072
17
261,740
1
(234,105)
27,653
35,725

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
31

Table of Contents

LOOKSMART, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Product development and technical operations
General and administrative
Restructuring charge
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income, net
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per share - Basic and Diluted
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income (loss) per share - Basic and Diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding used in computing basic net income (loss) per share
Weighted average shares outstanding used in computing diluted net income (loss) per share

Year Ended December 31,
2011
2010
$
27,634 $
47,479
15,195
28,832
12,439
18,647

$
$
$

2,332
6,742
5,312
889
15,275
(2,836)
89
(81)
323
(2,505)
(3)
(2,508)
(2,508) $

4,331
9,039
4,635
18,005
642
68
(148)
60
622
(5)
617
358
975

(0.15) $
(0.15) $
17,287
17,287

0.04
0.02
0.06
17,179
17,236

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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LOOKSMART, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands)

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
Balance at
December 31, 2009
Common stock
issued upon
exercise of stock
option
Common stock
issued for
employee stock
purchase plan
Issuance of restricted
stock
Stock-based
compensation
Comprehensive
income:
Unrealized loss on
securities, net
Net income
Balance at
December 31, 2010
Common stock
issued upon
exercise of stock
option
Common stock
issued for
employee stock
purchase plan
Stock-based
compensation
Comprehensive loss:
Unrealized loss on
securities, net
Net loss
Balance at
December 31, 2011

17,145

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Gain (Loss)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
17

$

260,981

$

3

Accumulated
Deficit
$

Total
Stockholders'
Equity

(235,080) $

25,921

$

(6,195)

(2) $
975

(2)
975

1

-

1

-

-

1

41

-

38

-

-

38

35

-

46

-

-

46

-

-

674

-

-

674

-

-

-

17,222

$

17

$

261,740

(2)
$

1

975
$

(234,105) $

27,653

42

-

49

-

-

49

24

-

31

-

-

31

-

-

381

-

-

381

-

-

-

17,288

$

17

$

262,201

(25)
$

(24) $

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

(2,508)

(25)
(2,508)

(236,613) $

25,581

$

973

(25)
(2,508)
$

(2,533)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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LOOKSMART, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2011
2010
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustment to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for doubtful accounts
Share-based compensation
(Gain) loss from sale of assets and other non-cash charges
Deferred rent
Gain on closure of settlement fund
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Trade accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue and customer deposits
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from sale of investments
Proceeds from sale of equipment
Payments for property, equipment, and capitalized software
Proceeds from contingent purchase consideration of certain consumer assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments of capital lease obligations
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Net cash used in financing activities
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid
Income taxes paid
Supplemental disclosure of noncash activities:
Assets acquired through capital lease obligations
Change in unrealized loss on investments
Share-based compensation capitalized as software development costs

$

(2,508) $
2,656
521
361
91
(12)
(339)

2,897
48
679
(411)
86
-

1,067
130
(767)
(1,381)
139
(42)

680
103
(415)
(1,928)
(109)
2,605

(18,921)
16,839
(1,089)
91
(3,080)

(13,322)
13,259
71
(2,402)
353
(2,041)

$

(1,127)
80
(1,047)
(4,169)
22,119
17,950 $

$
$

81
4

$
$
$

975

$
$

- $
(24) $
20 $

(1,417)
39
(1,378)
(814)
22,933
22,119
140
4
363
(2)
41

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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LOOKSMART, LTD.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Business
LookSmart, Ltd. (“LookSmart” or the “Company”) is a search advertising network solutions company that provides relevant solutions for
search advertisers and publishers. LookSmart was organized in 1996 and is incorporated in the State of Delaware.
LookSmart operates in a large online search advertising ecosystem serving ads that target user queries on partner sites. The Company operates
in the middle of this ecosystem, acquiring search queries from a variety of sources and matching them with the keywords of its search advertising
customers. The Company’s largest category of customers has been intermediaries, the majority of which purchase clicks to sell into the affiliate
networks of the large search engine providers. Another category of customers are direct advertisers and their agencies, some of whom want
conversions or sales from the clicks, while others want unique page views. The last category of customers is self-service advertisers that sign-up
online and pay by credit card.
The Company offers search advertising customers targeted search via a monitored search advertising distribution network using the Company’s
“AdCenter” platform technology. The Company’s search advertising network includes publishers and search advertising customers, including
intermediaries and direct advertising customers and their agencies as well as self-service customers in the United States and certain other countries.
The Company’s application programming interface (“API”) allows search advertising customers and their advertising agencies to connect any type
of marketing or reporting software with minimal effort, for easier access, management, and optimization of search advertising campaigns.
The Company also offers publishers licensed private-label search advertiser network solutions based on its AdCenter platform technology
(“Publisher Solutions”). Publisher Solutions consist of hosted auction-based ad serving with an ad backfill capability that allows publishers and
portals to manage their advertiser relationships, distribution channels and accounts.
In the first quarter of 2008, the Company’s management made the decision to exit its remaining consumer products activities and to sell or
otherwise dispose of the remaining consumer assets. The results of operations of consumer product activities have been classified as discontinued
operations for all periods presented in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations, as further described in Note 2. At December 31,
2011, the Company continues to own the Wisenut search engine technology, intellectual property rights in such technology, and other assets.
Principles of Consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its Subsidiaries. All significant inter-company balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Use of Estimates and Assumptions
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
(“GAAP”). This requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue,
expenses, and contingent assets and liabilities during the reporting period. The Company bases its estimates on various factors and information
which may include, but are not limited to, history and prior experience, experience of other enterprises in the same industry, new related events, and
current economic conditions and information from third party professionals that is believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the financial statements for 2010 have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation. These reclassifications
did not change the previously reported net income, net change in cash and cash equivalents or stockholders’ equity.
Investments
The Company invests its excess cash primarily in debt instruments of high-quality corporate and government issuers. All highly liquid
instruments with maturities at the date of purchase greater than ninety days are considered investments. All instruments with maturities greater than
one year from the balance sheet date are considered long-term investments unless management intends to liquidate such securities in the current
operating cycle. Such securities are classified as short-term investments. These securities are classified as available-for-sale and carried at fair
value.
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Changes in the value of these investments are primarily related to changes in interest rates and are considered to be temporary in nature. Except
for declines in fair value that are not considered temporary, net unrealized gains or losses on these investments are reported as a component of
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) in the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity. The Company recognizes realized gains and losses
upon sale of investments using the specific identification method.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company’s estimate of fair value for assets and liabilities is based on a framework that establishes a hierarchy of the inputs used in
valuation and gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets and requires that observable inputs be used in the valuations when
available. The disclosure of fair value estimates is based on whether the significant inputs into the valuation are observable. In determining the level
of the hierarchy in which the estimate is disclosed, the highest priority is given to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority
to unobservable inputs that reflect our significant market assumptions. The three levels of the hierarchy are as follows:
Level 1:

Unadjusted quoted market prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that we have the ability to access.

Level 2:

Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets in inactive markets; or
valuations based on models where the significant inputs are observable (e.g., interest rates, yield curves, default rates, etc.) or can
be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3:

Valuations based on models where significant inputs are not observable. The unobservable inputs reflect our assumptions about
the assumptions that market participants would use.

Revenue Recognition
Online search advertising revenue is primarily composed of per transaction fees that the Company charges customers. Revenue also includes
revenue share from licensing of private-labeled versions of the Company’s AdCenter Platform.
Revenues associated with online advertising products, including Advertiser Networks, are generally recognized once collectability is
established, delivery of services has occurred, all performance obligations have been satisfied, and no refund obligations exist of when we are
aware. The Company pays distribution network partners based on clicks on the advertiser’s ad that are displayed on the websites of these
distribution network partners. These payments are called traffic acquisition costs (“TAC”) and are included in cost of revenue. The revenue
derived from these arrangements that involve traffic supplied by distribution network partners is reported gross of the payment to the
distribution network partners. This revenue is reported gross due to the fact that the Company is the primary obligor to the advertisers who are
the customers of the advertising service.
The Company also enters into agreements to provide private-labeled versions of its AdCenter platform technology. These license
arrangements may include some or all of the following elements: revenue-sharing based on the publisher’s customer’s monthly revenue
generated through the AdCenter application; upfront fees; monthly minimum fees; and other license fees. The Company recognizes upfront
fees over the term of the arrangement or the expected period of performance, other license fees over the term of the license, and revenuesharing portions over the period in which such revenue is earned. In all cases, revenue is recognized only when the price is fixed or
determinable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the service is performed, and collectability of the resulting receivable is reasonably
assured.
The Company provides a provision against revenue for estimated reductions resulting from billing adjustments and customer refunds. The
amounts of these provisions are evaluated periodically based upon customer experience and historical trends. The allowance included in trade
receivables, net is $0.3 million and $0.2 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
Deferred revenue is recorded when payments are received in advance of performance in underlying agreements. Customer deposits are
recorded when customers make prepayments for online advertising.
The Company evaluates individual arrangements with customers to make a determination under Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 605-45 Revenue Recognition . We test and record revenue accordingly.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from customers failing to make required payments.
This valuation allowance is reviewed on a periodic basis to determine whether a provision or reversal is required. The review is based on factors
including the application of historical collection rates to current receivables and economic conditions. The Company will record an increase or
reduction of its allowance for doubtful accounts if collection rates or economic conditions are more or less favorable than it anticipated. Additional
allowances for doubtful accounts may be required if there is deterioration in past due balances, if economic conditions are less favorable than the
Company anticipated or for customer-specific circumstances, such as bankruptcy. The allowance for doubtful accounts included in trade accounts
receivable, net is $0.6 million and $0.2 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. Bad debt expense included in general and
administrative expense is $0.5 million and insignificant for each of the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010.
Concentrations, Credit Risk and Credit Risk Evaluation
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents,
investments, and accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company placed its cash equivalents and investments primarily
through one financial institution, City National Bank (“CNB”), and mitigated the concentration of credit risk by placing percentage limits on the
maximum portion of the investment portfolio which may be invested in any one investment instrument. These amounts exceed federally insured
limits at December 31, 2011 and 2010. The Company has not experienced any credit losses on these cash equivalents and investment accounts and
does not believe it is exposed to any significant credit risk on these funds. The fair value of these accounts is subject to fluctuation based on market
prices.
Credit Risk, Customer and Vendor Evaluation
Accounts receivable are typically unsecured and are derived from sales to customers. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its
customers and maintains allowances for estimated credit losses. The Company applies judgment as to its ability to collect outstanding receivables
based primarily on management’s evaluation of the customer’s financial condition and past collection history and records a specific allowance. In
addition, the Company records an allowance based on the length of time the receivables are past due. Historically, such losses have been within
management’s expectations.
The following table reflects customers that accounted for more than 10% of gross accounts receivable:

Company 1
Company 2
____________________________________
** Less than 10%

December 31,
2011
2010
20%
**
12%
21%

Revenue and Cost Concentrations
The following table reflects countries that accounted for more than 10% of net revenue:

United States
Europe, Middle East and Africa
____________________________________
** Less than 10%

Year Ended December 31,
2011
2010
70%
60%
21%
27%
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LookSmart derives its revenue from two service offerings, or “products”: Advertiser Networks and Publisher Solutions. The percentage
distributions between the two service offerings are as follows:

Advertiser Networks
Publisher Solutions

Year Ended December 31,
2011
2010
95%
93%
5%
7%

The following table reflects the percentage of revenue attributed to customers who accounted for 10% or more of net revenue. All are
Intermediaries and we do not expect them to represent similar revenues in 2012 and beyond:

Company 1
Company 2
Company 3
____________________________________
** Less than 10%

Year Ended December 31,
2011
2010
11%
**
11%
11%
**
14%

The Company derives its revenue primarily from its relationships with significant distribution network partners. The following table reflects the
distribution partners that accounted for more than 10% of the total TAC:

Distribution Partner 1
Distribution Partner 2
Distribution Partner 3
____________________________________
** Less than 10%

Year Ended December 31,
2011
2010
**
17%
**
11%
**
10%

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Computer equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Software

3 to 4 years
5 to 7 years
2 to 3 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term.
When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from their respective
accounts, and any gain or loss on such sale or disposal is reflected in operating expenses. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as
incurred. Expenditures that substantially increase an asset’s useful life are capitalized.
Internal Use Software Development Costs
The Company capitalizes external direct costs of materials and services consumed in developing and obtaining internal-use computer software
and the payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly associated with and who devote time to developing the internal-use
computer software. These costs are capitalized after certain milestones have been achieved and generally amortized over a three year period once
the project is placed in service.
Management exercises judgment in determining when costs related to a project may be capitalized, in assessing the ongoing value of the
capitalized costs, and in determining the amortization period for the capitalized costs, which is generally three years. The Company expects to
continue to invest in internally developed software and to capitalize such costs.
Restructuring Charges
On January 7, 2011, our Board of Directors approved a plan of termination that resulted in a reduction of the workforce of approximately 20
full-time positions, or approximately 35%.
38

Table of Contents

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews long-lived assets held or used in operations, including property and equipment and capitalized software development
costs, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable.
Subject assets are tested for impairment at the lowest level of operations that generate cash flows that are largely independent of the cash flows
from those of other groups of asset and liabilities. Management has determined that the equity of its single reporting unit is the lowest level of
operation at which independent cash flows can be identified. An impairment loss is recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash flows
expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition is less than its carrying amount. Impairment, if any, is measured as the
amount by which the carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying
amount or fair value less cost to dispose.
The Company tested its long-lived assets used in operations for impairment as of December 31, 2011, and determined there was no
impairment.
Traffic Acquisition Costs
The Company enters into agreements of varying durations with its distribution network partners that display the Company’s listings ads on
their sites in return for a percentage of the revenue-per-click that the Company receives when the ads are clicked on those partners’ sites.
The Company also enters into agreements of varying durations with third party affiliates. These affiliate agreements provide for variable
payments based on a percentage of the Company’s revenue or based on a certain metric, such as number of searches or paid clicks.
The Company records TAC as cost of revenue and TAC are expensed based on the volume of the underlying activity or revenue, multiplied by
the agreed-upon price or rate.
Share-Based Compensation
The Company recognizes share-based compensation costs for all share-based payment transactions with employees, including grants of
employee stock options, restricted stock awards, and employee stock purchases related to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, over the requisite
service period based on their relative fair values. The Company estimates the fair value of option awards on the grant date using the Black-Scholes
method. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense in the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Operations over the requisite service periods. Share-based compensation expense recognized for the years ended December 31, 2011
and 2010, were $0.4 million and $0.7 million, respectively, which was related to stock grants, options and employee stock purchases.
Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant in order to estimate the amount of share-based awards that will ultimately vest. The forfeiture rate
is determined at the end of each fiscal quarter, based on historical rates.
The Company elected to adopt the alternative transition method for calculating the tax effects of share-based compensation to establish the
beginning balance of the additional paid-in capital pool (“APIC pool”) related to the tax effects of employee share-based compensation, and to
determine the subsequent impact on the APIC pool and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of the tax effects of employee share-based
compensation awards.
Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are charged to sales and marketing expenses as incurred and were insignificant and $0.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
Product Development Costs
Research of new product ideas and enhancements to existing products are charged to expense as incurred.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method. Under the liability method, deferred tax liabilities and assets are
determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the
year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the
amounts expected to be realized. The Company records liabilities, where appropriate, for all uncertain income tax positions. The Company
recognizes potential accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within operations as income tax expense.
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Comprehensive Gain (Loss)
Other comprehensive gain (loss) as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 consists of unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities
categorized as available-for-sale and foreign currency translation adjustments.
Net Income (Loss) per Common Share
Basic net income (loss) and diluted net income (loss) per share is calculated using the weighted average shares of common stock outstanding.
Diluted net income per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common and potentially dilutive common shares outstanding
during the period, using the treasury stock method for stock options.
Segment Information
The Company has one operating segment, online advertising. While the Company operates under one operating segment, management reviews
revenue under two product offerings—Advertiser Networks and Publisher Solutions.
As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, all of the Company’s accounts receivable, intangible assets, and deferred revenue are related to the online
advertising segment. All long-lived assets are located in the United States and Canada.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued an amendment to an existing accounting standard which requires
companies to present net income and other comprehensive income in one continuous statement or in two separate, but consecutive, statements. In
addition, in December 2011, the FASB issued an amendment to an existing accounting standard which defers the requirement to present
components of reclassifications of other comprehensive income on the face of the income statement. The Company is required to adopt this
standard as of the beginning of 2012 and it is to be applied retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. This guidance will not have an impact on
the Company’s results of operations, financial position or cash flows as it is disclosure-only in nature.
In May 2011, the FASB issued a new accounting standard on fair value measurements that clarifies the application of existing guidance and
disclosure requirements, changes certain fair value measurement principles and requires additional disclosures about fair value measurements. This
new guidance is to be applied prospectively. The Company is required to adopt this standard as of the beginning of 2012. Adoption of this new
guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations, financial position or liquidity.
2.

Discontinued Operations and Dispositions

Consumer Products
In the first quarter of 2008, the Company’s management made the decision to exit the remaining consumer products activities and to sell or
otherwise dispose of its remaining consumer assets. The various remaining related websites and assets associated with the consumer products
activities met the criteria to be classified as discontinued operations. The results of operations related to assets to be disposed of, and of previously
disposed assets, including any related gains and losses are classified as discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Operations.
As of December 31, 2011, the Company continues to own the Wisenut search engine technology, intellectual property rights in such
technology and other assets.
Income from discontinued operations was $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2010.
Net Nanny
On January 22, 2007, the Company completed the sale of Net Nanny to Content Watch, Inc. (“Content Watch”). The sale proceeds were
comprised of contingent purchase consideration that may be realized at future dates based on the amount of revenue received by Content Watch.
The Company recorded contingent purchase consideration of zero and $0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
Under the terms of the Content Watch agreement, the contingent purchase consideration period ended December 31, 2010. Contingent purchase
consideration has been classified as gain on disposal.
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3.

Cash and Available for Sale Securities

The following table summarizes the Company’s cash and available-for-sale securities’ amortized cost and estimated fair value by significant
investment category as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 ( in thousands):
Amortized Cost and Estimated
Fair Value
December 31,
2011
2010
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash
Cash equivalents
Money market mutual funds
Certificates of deposit
Commercial paper
Total cash equivalents
Total cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments:
Corporate bonds
Certificates of deposit
Commercial paper
Total short-term investments
Long-term investments:
Corporate bonds
Total long-term investments
Total cash and available-for-sale securities

$

$

7,205

$

9,435

1,045
3,100
6,600
10,745
17,950

35
2,000
10,649
12,684
22,119

2,031
3,278
1,500
6,809

2,250
1,000
3,250

24,759

1,577
1,577
26,946

$

Realized gains and realized losses were not significant for either of the years ended December 31, 2011 or 2010. As of December 31, 2011 and
2010, there were no significant unrealized losses on investments. The cost of all securities sold is based on the specific identification method.
The contractual maturities of cash equivalents and short-term investments at December 31, 2011 were less than one year. There were no longterm investments at December 31, 2011.
The Company typically invests in highly-rated securities, and its policy generally limits the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer. When
evaluating the investments for other-than-temporary impairment, the Company reviews such factors as the length of time and extent to which fair
value has been below cost basis, the financial condition of the issuer, and the Company’s intent to sell, or whether it is more likely than not it will
be required to sell, the investment before recovery of the investment’s amortized cost basis. During the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010,
the Company did not recognize any impairment charges on outstanding investments. As of December 31, 2011, the Company does not consider any
of its investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired.
4.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following at December 31, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands) :

Computer equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Software
Leasehold improvements
Total

$

$

December 31, 2011
Accumulated
Net Book
Cost
Depreciation
Value
9,751 $
(8,002) $
1,749
75
(62)
13
1,241
(1,229)
12
308
(141)
167
11,375 $
(9,434) $
1,941

$

$

December 31, 2010
Accumulated
Net Book
Cost
Depreciation
Value
9,224 $
(6,411) $
2,813
75
(59)
16
1,239
(1,220)
19
308
(74)
234
10,846 $
(7,764) $
3,082

Depreciation expense on property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, including cost of property and equipment
under capital lease, was $1.7 million and $1.8 million, respectively, and is recorded in operating expenses. Equipment under capital lease totaled
$2.8 million and $4.3 million as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Depreciation expense on equipment under capital lease was $1.1
million and $1.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Additionally, accumulated depreciation on equipment
under capital lease was $2.5 million and $2.8 million as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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5.

Capitalized Software and Other Assets
The Company’s capitalized software and other assets are as follows at December 31, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands) :

Capitalized software
Amortizable purchased
technology
Other assets

Gross
Amount
$
6,688

$

December 31, 2011
Accumulated
Net Book
Amortization
Value
$
(5,503) $
1,185

78
35
6,801

$

(78)
(5,581) $

35
1,220

Gross
Amount
$
6,206

$

78
94
6,378

December 31, 2010
Accumulated
Net Book
Amortization
Value
$
(4,550) $
1,656

$

(78)
(4,628) $

94
1,750

Capitalized software consists of external direct costs of materials and services consumed in developing and obtaining internal-use computer
software and the payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly associated with and who devote time to developing the internaluse computer software and is amortized over three years. Amortization expense was $1.0 million and $1.1 million for the years ended December 31,
2011 and 2010, respectively.
6.

Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands) :

Accrued distribution and partner costs
Accrued compensation and related expenses
Accrued professional service fees
Other
Total accrued liabilities
7.

$

$

December 31,
2011
2010
409 $
1,473
137
513
257
222
92
407
895 $
2,615

Restructuring Charges

In 2011, the Company recorded $0.9 million in pre-tax restructuring charges associated with the termination of employees. All restructuring
charges have been classified as such on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The Company had no restructuring costs accrued at December
31, 2011.
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8.

Capital Lease and Other Obligations
Capital lease and other obligations consist of the following at December 31, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands) :

Capital lease obligations
Deferred rent
Total capital lease and other obligations
Less: current portion of capital lease obligations
Capital lease and other obligations, net of current portion

$

$

December 31,
2011
2010
657 $
1,784
154
166
811
1,950
(515)
(1,048)
296 $
902

Capital Lease Obligations
City National Bank
On April 6, 2007, the Company entered into a master equipment lease agreement with CNB for an original amount of up to $5.0 million for the
purchase of computer equipment. The lease expired on April 30, 2010, at which time the Company had drawn down approximately $4.9 million of
the available lease line of credit. Interest on the capital leases was calculated using interest rates ranging from 4.32% to 7.95% per annum. Effective
as of September 30, 2009, the master equipment lease agreement was amended to modify two financial covenants, with which the Company was in
compliance as of December 31, 2011.
The agreements with CNB, consisting of an outstanding standby letter of credit (“SBLC”) and a master equipment lease agreement,
contain cross-default provisions, whereby a default under one is deemed a default for the other, and are secured by a general lien on all assets
of the Company. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company was not in default on either agreement with CNB. For further discussion
see Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies.
9.

Income Taxes

In accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”), the Company accounts for uncertainty in tax positions and recognizes in its financial
statements the largest amount of a tax position that is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon audit, based on the technical merits of the position.
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, Canada and various state jurisdictions. The Company remains
subject to U.S. federal tax examinations for years 1997-2002, 2004-2006, and 2008-present. The tax years that remain subject to examination in
state jurisdictions include 2002 and 2004-present. The Company believes that its income tax filing positions and deductions will be sustained
on audit and does not anticipate any adjustments that will result in a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of
operations, or cash flows. Therefore, no reserves for uncertain income tax positions have been recorded at December 31, 2011.
The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties accrued on any unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense.
The Company did not have any accrued interest or penalties associated with unrecognized tax benefits, nor was any interest expense or penalties
recognized during the year ended December 31, 2011.
The Company was in a net taxable loss position in 2011 and 2010. The income tax provision for all years includes minimum state tax and
revisions of prior years’ estimated taxes.
Total income tax expense of $3 thousand and $5 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, was allocated to
income from continuing operations and is classified as a current provision.
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The primary components of the net deferred tax asset are as follows at December 31, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands) :
December 31,
2011
2010
Deferred tax asset:
Net Operating loss carryforwards
Depreciation and amortization
Accruals and reserves
Tax credits
Share-based compensation
Total deferred tax assets
Less: valuation allowance
Total

$

$

65,132 $
2,476
709
535
3,832
72,684
(72,684)
- $

66,595
3,119
538
535
3,771
74,558
(74,558)
-

As of December 31, 2011, the Company has Net Operating Loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of approximately $182.0 million and $54.0
million for federal and state purposes, respectively. The Company also has Alternative Minimum Tax (“AMT”) credit carryforwards of $110
thousand and $60 thousand for federal and state purposes, respectively. The NOL carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in 2012
through 2031 if not utilized. The AMT tax credit carryforwards may be carried forward indefinitely. Included in the NOL carryforwards are
losses resulting from the exercise of stock options totaling $47 million and $24 million for federal and state purposes, respectively.
A valuation allowance existed as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, due to the uncertainty of net operating loss utilization based on the
Company’s history of losses. The valuation allowance decreased by $1.9 million and increased by $1.0 million for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
The difference between the Company’s effective income tax rate and the federal statutory rate for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
is reconciled below:
December 31,
2011
2010
34.0%
34.0%
-0.3%
1.1%
-0.2%
0.5%
-31.0%
-35.2%
-2.7%
-0.1%
-0.2%
0.3%

Federal tax rate from continuing operations
Permanent differences
State taxes, including permanent differences
Change in valuation allowance
Other
Total
10.

Commitments and Contingencies
As of December 31, 2011, future minimum payments under all capital and operating leases are as follows (in thousands):
CNB
Capital
Lease
Years ending December 31,
2012
2013
2014
Total minimum payments
Less: amount representing interest
Present value of net minimum payments
Less: current portion
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations

$

$

$

540 $
144
684 $
(27)
657
(515)
142

Operating
Leases
608
537
556
1,701

Total
$

$

1,148
681
556
2,385
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Operating Leases
On August 31, 2009, the Company entered into an agreement to sublease office space for its headquarters in San Francisco, California, under
an operating lease that commenced in November 2009 and expires on December 30, 2014. In addition to scheduled base rent payments, the
Company is also responsible for varying amounts of operating and property tax expenses.
The Company leases a sales office in New York, New York on a month to month basis.
The Company leases temporary offices in Los Angeles, California with a term expiring in August 2012.
The Company leases office space in Kitchener, Canada of approximately of 5,222 square feet that houses our Engineering and Support teams.
The lease has a constant term of six months.
Rent expense under all operating leases was $0.6 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
Letters of Credit
At December 31, 2011, the Company had an outstanding SBLC related to the security of a building lease for $0.2 million.
At December 31, 2010 the Company had an outstanding SBLC related to the security of a building lease for $0.3 million and security on an
equipment lease for $0.2 million. In March 2010, the equipment lease requiring the $0.2 million SBLC was cancelled and the SBLC was released
by the vendor and terminated in May 2010.
The agreements with CNB, consisting of the SBLCs and master equipment lease agreement, contain cross-default provisions, whereby a
default under one is deemed a default for the other, and are secured by a general lien on all assets of the Company. As of December 31, 2011 and
2010, the Company was not in default on either agreement with CNB. For further discussion, see Note 8, Capital Lease and other Obligations.
Purchase Obligations
The Company had outstanding purchase obligations of an insignificant amount and $1.1 million relating to an open purchase order for which
the Company had not received the related services or goods and a non-cancelable contractual obligation relating to IT data center operations as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
Guarantees and Indemnities
During its normal course of business, the Company has made certain guarantees, indemnities and commitments under which it may be required
to make payments in relation to certain transactions. These indemnities include intellectual property and other indemnities to the Company’s
customers and distribution network partners in connection with the sales of its products, and indemnities to various lessors in connection with
facility leases for certain claims arising from such facility or lease.
Officer and Director Indemnification
Further, the Company has agreements whereby it indemnifies its officers and directors for certain events or occurrences while the officer or
director is, or was, serving, at the Company’s request, in such capacity, to the maximum extent permitted under the laws of the State of Delaware.
The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited.
However, the Company maintains directors and officers insurance coverage that may contribute, up to certain limits, a portion of any future
amounts paid, for indemnification of directors and officers. The Company believes the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements in
excess of applicable insurance coverage is minimal. Historically, the Company has not incurred any losses or recorded any liabilities related to
performance under these types of indemnities.
Legal Proceedings
The Company is involved, from time to time, in various legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business activities. Although the
results of litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company does not expect resolution of these matters to have a material
adverse impact on its consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial position unless stated otherwise. However, an unfavorable
resolution of a matter could, depending on its amount and timing, materially affect its results of operations, cash flows or financial position in a
future period. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on the Company because of defense costs, diversion of management
resources and other factors.
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11.

Stockholders’ Equity

Share-Based Compensation
Stock Option Plans
In December 1997, the Company approved the 1998 Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”). In June 2007, the stockholders approved the LookSmart
2007 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2007 Plan”). Under the 2007 Plan, the Company may grant incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options,
stock appreciation rights and stock rights to employees, directors and consultants. Share-based incentive awards are provided under the terms of
these two plans (collectively, the “Plans”).
The Company’s Plans are administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Awards under the Plans principally include
at-the-money options and fully vested restricted stock. Except for the one time share grants to certain executive officers that become exercisable
over a two year period, outstanding stock options generally become exercisable over a three or four year period from the grant date and have a term
of seven years. Beginning in 2008, the Company issued fully vested restricted stock to certain directors and executive officers. Grants can only be
made under 2007 Plan. The 1998 Plan is closed to further share issuance. The number of shares reserved for issuance under the Plans was 4.3
million and 4.5 million shares of common stock for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. There were 1.5 million shares
available to be granted under the 2007 Plan at December 31, 2011.
Share-based compensation expense recorded during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was included in the Company’s
Consolidated Statement of Operations as follows (in thousands) :

Sales and marketing
Product development and technical operations
General and administrative
Total share-based compensation expense
Amounts capitalized as software development costs
Total share-based compensation

$

$

Year Ended
December 31,
2011
2010
19 $
150
192
361
20
381 $

69
322
288
679
41
720

Total unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to share-based compensation arrangements at December 31, 2011 was $0.8
million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 3.2 years. The total fair value of equity awards vested
during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $0.4 million and $0.7 million, respectively.
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Option Awards
Stock option activity under the Plans during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

Options outstanding at December 31, 2009
Granted
Exercised
Expired/forfeited
Options outstanding at December 31, 2010
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Options outstanding at December 31, 2011
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2011
Exercisable at December 31, 2011

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
Per Share

Shares
(in thousands)
3,209
998
(1)
(1,284)
2,922
1,028
(42)
(547)
(699)
2,662
2,378
1,623

$

$
$
$

3.90
1.48
0.91
3.63
3.20
1.64
1.15
1.87
3.75
2.76
2.90
3.50

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Term
(in years)
7.31

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)
$
-

6.28

745

5.34
5.21
4.78

$
$
$

25
24
22

The aggregate intrinsic values in the table above represent the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between the market price of the
Company’s stock on the last trading day of the period and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money options) that would have
been received by the option holder had all option holders exercised their options at year-end. The intrinsic value amount changes with changes in
the fair market value of the Company’s stock.
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2011:
Options Outstanding

Price Ranges
$

1.02
1.64
2.70
4.33
7.30
12.01

- $
-

1.62
2.62
4.15
6.50
10.95
20.55

Shares
(in thousands)
1,131
521
666
216
73
55
2,662

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual Term
(in years)
6.05
6.09
4.80
3.53
2.45
1.19
5.34

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price
Per Share
$

1.40
1.92
3.29
4.64
9.26
15.94
2.76

Options Exercisable
WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price
Shares
Per Share
(in thousands)
505 $
1.38
110
2.26
665
3.29
216
4.64
72
9.26
55
15.94
1,623
3.50

Stock Awards
No stock awards were issued in 2011. During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company issued 35 thousand shares of fully vested
restricted stock, with a weighted average grant date fair value of $1.32 per share under the 2007 Plan and recorded share-based compensation for
stock awards of $46 thousand.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
On July 14, 2009, the 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2009 ESPP”) was approved by the shareholders. The 2009 ESPP replace the
1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which expired in June 2009. Under the 2009 ESPP, the Company is authorized to issue up to 500 thousand
shares of Common Stock to employees of the Company. Under the 2009 ESPP, substantially all employees may purchase the Company’s common
stock through payroll deductions at a price equal to 85 percent of the lower of the fair market value at the beginning of the offering period or at the
end of each applicable purchase period. Each offering period is 6 months and consists of one purchase period. ESPP contributions are limited to a
maximum of 15 percent of an employee’s eligible compensation, and ESPP participants are limited to purchasing a maximum of 5,000 shares per
purchase period. Share-based compensation expense under the 2009 ESPP was insignificant for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. As
of December 31, 2011, 65 thousand shares have been issued under the 2009 Plan.
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Share-Based Compensation Valuation Assumptions
The fair value of each stock option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The weighted
average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option valuation model and the weighted average grant date fair value per share for employee stock
options were as follows:

Volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected term (years)
Expected dividend yield
Weighted average grant date fair value

Year Ended December 31,
2011
2010
66.4%
64.7%
0.39%
1.57%
4.22
4.22
$
0.83 $
0.75

As share-based compensation expense recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations is based on awards ultimately expected to vest,
it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates.
Exercise of Employee Stock Options and Purchase Plans
Forty-two thousand options were exercised in the year ended December 31, 2011. One thousand options were exercised in the year ended
December 31, 2010. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised and the total cash received as a result of exercises under all share-based
compensation arrangements was insignificant for each of the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. The Company issues new shares of
common stock upon exercise of stock options. No income tax benefits have been realized from exercised stock options through 2011.
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12.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair Value of Financial Assets
The Company’s financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis subject to disclosure requirements at December 31, 2011 and 2010
were as follows (in thousands) :

Cash equivalents:
Money market mutual funds
Certificates of deposit
Commercial paper

Balance at
December 31,
2011

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical
Assets
(Level 1)

$

$

Short-term investments:
Corporate bonds
Certificates of deposit
Commercial paper
Total financial assets measured at fair value

Cash equivalents:
Money market mutual funds
Certificates of deposit
Commercial paper

$

2,031
3,278
1,500
6,809
17,554

$

1,045
1,045
1,045

Balance at
December 31,
2010

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical
Assets
(Level 1)

$

$

Short-term investments:
Certificates of deposit
Commercial paper
Long-term investments:
Corporate bonds
Total financial assets measured at fair value

1,045
3,100
6,600
10,745

35
2,000
10,649
12,684
2,250
1,000
3,250

$

1,577
17,511

35
35

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)
$

$

3,100
6,600
9,700
2,031
3,278
1,500
6,809
16,509

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)
$

2,000
10,649
12,649

-

$

35

2,250
1,000
3,250

$

1,577
17,476

The Company held no Level 3 investments at December 31, 2011 and 2010. In February 2010, the level 3 investment, a warrant, expired
unexercised.
Investments
For investments that have quoted market prices in active markets, the Company uses the quoted market prices as fair value and includes these
prices in the amounts disclosed in Level 1 of the hierarchy. The Company receives the quoted market prices from a third party, nationally
recognized pricing service (“pricing service”). When quoted market prices are unavailable, the Company utilizes a pricing service to determine a
single estimate of fair value, which is mainly for its fixed maturity investments. The fair value estimates provided from this pricing service are
included in the amount disclosed in Level 2 of the hierarchy. The Company bases all of its estimates of fair value for assets on the bid price as it
represents what a third party market participant would be willing to pay in an arm’s length transaction.
The Company validates the prices received from the pricing service using various methods including, applicability of Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation or other national government insurance or guarantees, comparison of proceeds received on individual investments
subsequent to reporting date, prices received from publicly available sources, and review of transaction volume data to confirm the presence of
active markets. The Company does not adjust the prices received from the pricing service unless such prices are determined to be inconsistent. At
December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company did not adjust prices received from the pricing service.
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Trade accounts receivable, net: The carrying value reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets approximates fair value and is net of
allowances for doubtful accounts and returns which estimate customer non-performance risk.
Trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities: The carrying value reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for these items
approximates their fair value, which is the likely amount which the liability with short settlement periods would be transferred to a market
participant with a similar credit standing as the Company.
13.

Net Income (Loss) per Share

A reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share (“EPS”) is provided as follows (in
thousands, except per share amounts) :
Year Ended December 31,
2011
2010
Numerator
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Net income (loss)
Denominator
Weighted average shares used to compute basic EPS
Effect of dilutive securities:
Dilutive common stock equivalents
Weighted average shares used to compute diluted EPS
Net income per share - Basic
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income (loss) per share - Basic
Net income per share - Diluted
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income (loss) per share - Diluted

$
$

$
$
$
$

(2,508) $
(2,508) $

617
358
975

17,287

17,179

17,287

57
17,236

(0.15) $
(0.15) $

0.04
0.02
0.06

(0.15) $
(0.15) $

0.04
0.02
0.06

Options to purchase common stock are not included in the diluted loss per share calculations when their effect is antidilutive. For the year
ended December 31, 2011, 2.7 million shares of potential common stock related to outstanding stock options were excluded from the calculation of
diluted net loss per share as such shares are antidilutive when there is a loss.
For the year ended December 31, 2010, 2.7 million shares of potential common stock related to outstanding stock options were excluded from
the calculation of diluted net income per share as their respective exercise prices were more than the average market value for the respective
periods.
14.

Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has a 401(k) retirement plan covering all eligible employees. Employees may contribute amounts ranging from 1% to 50% of
annual salary, up to the maximum limits established by the Internal Revenue Service. The Company matches these contributions in cash up to 5%
of annual salary up to a total match of $3 thousand per year per employee. Employees vest 100% immediately in their own contributions and 50%
per year in Company matching contributions. Any employer contributions that are not vested are forfeited if an employee leaves the Company, but
are reinstated if the employee returns to service within five years. The Company made matching contributions of an insignificant amount for each
of 2011 and 2010.
15.

Related Party Transactions

During the year ended December 31, 2011, Dr. Jean-Yves Dexmier was paid fees totaling $0.4 million and $0.1 million in connection with his
services as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Executive Chairman of the Board, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2010,
Dr. Dexmier was paid fees totaling $0.4 million and $0.1 million in connection with his services as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Chairman of the Board, respectively.
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ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures
The Company’s Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and procedures, as
defined under Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e), as of December 31, 2011. Based on that evaluation, its Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer have concluded that its disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information
that it is required to disclose in reports that the Company files with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified by the Exchange Act rules.
Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over
financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the
supervision of, the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer and effected by the Company’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:
• Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the Company;
• Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and
• Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore,
even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and
presentation. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework . Based on our assessment, management concluded that the Company’s internal controls over financial
reporting were effective as of December 31, 2011.
This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal
controls over financial reporting because this is not required of the Company pursuant to Regulation S-K Item 308(b).
Changes in internal control over financial reporting
There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule
13a-15(e) or Rule 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act that occurred during the year ended December 31, 2011, that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal control over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B . OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART III
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our board of directors consists of five directors, two of whom will be standing for election at our 2012 annual meeting of stockholders. In
addition to the directors standing for election, we have two directors with a term expiring in 2013 and one director with the term expiring in 2014.
Our bylaws provide that the board of directors is divided into three classes. There is no difference in the voting rights of the members of each class
of directors. Each class of directors serves a term of three years, with the term of one class expiring at the annual meeting of stockholders in each
successive year. There are no family relationships among any directors, nominees for director or executive officers of the Company. The names,
ages, positions with the Company and current terms of office of our directors as of March 28, 2012 are as follows:
Name
Jean-Yves Dexmier

Age
60

Scott Kauffman (2)(3)
Anthony Castagna (1)
Mark Sanders (1)(2)
Timothy J. Wright (1)(3)

(1)
(2)
(3)

56
64
68
47

Position
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer
Director
Director
Director
Director

Expiration
of Term
2012
2012
2013
2013
2014

Member of audit committee
Member of nominating and governance committee
Member of compensation committee

Jean-Yves Dexmier has served as one of our directors since April 2007, as Executive Chairman of the Board since October 2009, and as our
interim Chief Executive Officer since December 2009. Dr. Dexmier served as Chief Financial Officer for Openwave Systems, Inc. from August
2007 through January 2008. Prior to that, Dr. Dexmier served as Chief Executive and Chairman of the Board of Agentis Software from 2001 to
2005. He served as Chief Executive Officer, President and Chief Financial Officer of Informix Software from 1997 to 2000. Dr. Dexmier also
served as the Chief Financial Officer of Octel Corporation from 1995 to 1997. From 1994 to 1995 he served as Chief Financial Officer of Air
Liquide Americas and from 1991 to 1994 he served as Chief Financial Officer of Thomson Consumer Electronics U.S. Dr. Dexmier received a B.A.
in Fundamental Mathematics from Lycee Pasteur, an M.B.A. from Ecole Polytechnique and a Ph.D. in Electronics from Ecole Nationale Superieure
de l’Aeronautique et de l’Espace, all located in France. Dr. Dexmier’s prior history as chief executive officer and chief financial officer of several
publicly traded technology companies positions him to contribute extensive operational and financial expertise, as well as leadership skills that are
important to the board of directors. In particular, his experience guiding Thomson Consumer Electronics, Octel Communications and Informix
Software through a successful turn-around is especially valuable in view of the Company’s needs to restore profitability and growth.
Scott L. Kauffman, had served as one of our directors since April 2011. Mr. Kauffman is the Chairman of several venture-backed Internet
companies, including Lela.com, Lotame, Ology.com and TuneUp Media. He is also a member of the board of directors of MDC Partners and
Vindicia. From January 2009 to August 2010, Mr. Kauffman was President and Chief Executive Officer, and a member of the board, of GeekNet,
Inc., a publicly-traded open source software application developer and e-commerce website operator. From May 2008 to December 2008, Mr.
Kauffman was President and CEO, and a member of the board, of PopTok Ltd., a start-up that facilitates the personalizing and digitizing of TV,
movie, and music video content for use in everyday conversations. From September 2006 until its acquisition by Yahoo! in October 2007, Mr.
Kauffman was President and Chief Operating Officer, and a member of the board, of BlueLithium, Inc., an Internet advertising network and
performance marketing company. Prior to joining BlueLithium, Mr. Kauffman was President and CEO, and a member of the board, of Zinio
Systems, Inc., a provider of digital magazine services, from July 2004 until August 2006. From February 2003 to June 2004, he was President and
CEO, and a member of the board, of MusicNow LLC, a digital music service. From April 2001 to February 2003 he was President and CEO of
Coremetrics Inc., a web services provider of marketing analytics solutions, where he continued to serve as a member of the board until the company
was acquired by IBM in July 2010. Mr. Kauffman has served in senior and executive management capacities with other digital entertainment,
consumer marketing, media and technology companies, including CompuServe and Time Warner. Mr. Kauffman holds an AB in English from
Vassar College and an MBA in marketing from New York University. In 1996, Advertising Age named him one of twenty digital media masters,
and in 1992, Advertising Age named him one of the top 100 marketers in the country. Mr. Kauffman brings extensive relevant industry experience
to the Board.
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Incumbent Directors Whose Terms Continue After the 2012 Annual Meeting
Anthony Castagna has served as one of our directors since March 1999. Dr. Castagna has served as a non-executive director of Macquarie
Technology Ventures Pty Limited, from 1997 to 2010, an Australian venture capital fund and wholly owned subsidiary of Macquarie Bank Limited,
Australia's largest investment bank, and has served as its independent advisor since 1997. He is also a non-executive director and Chairman of Nuix
Pty Limited, and of early-stage private technology-based companies in Australia, Asia and the United States.Dr. Castagna served as a non-executive
director of BT LookSmart, the joint venture between LookSmart and British Telecommunications, until December 2002. Dr. Castagna holds a
Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Newcastle, Australia, and an M.B.A. and Ph.D. in finance from the University of New South Wales,
Australia. The nominating and governance committee recommended Dr. Castagna for reelection based upon his extensive experience in technology
focused venture capital in Australia, the United States, China, and Europe, and his 25 years of experience negotiating, structuring and developing
international arrangements in information services and data analytics, medical devices and biotechnology, education services, application software,
contract manufacturing, wireless technologies, online and ecommerce services, and e-discovery. Dr. Castagna's deep international financial
background and eclectic interests and experience provide a valuable multi-disciplinary and multi-cultural perspective to the board of directors.
Mark Sanders was Chairman of the board from July 2008 to October 2009. He has served as one of our directors since January 2003 and our
Lead Director from October 2007. Mr. Sanders served as Chairman of Pinnacle Systems, a supplier of video creation, storage, distribution and
streaming solutions from July 2002 to March 2004. From August 2003 until July 2010, Sanders served on the board of directors of Bell
Microproducts Inc., a computer storage and semiconductor company. Mr. Sanders also served as a Director of Pinnacle Systems from January 1990
to March 2004 and as its President and Chief Executive Officer from January 1990 to July 2002. Prior to that time, Sanders served in a variety of
management positions, most recently as Vice President and General Manager of the Recording Systems Division of Ampex, Inc., a manufacturer of
video broadcast equipment. Mr. Sanders holds a B.S. in Electrical Engineering from California Polytechnic University, Pomona and an M.B.A.
from Golden Gate University. Mr. Sanders' extensive experience as a technology executive and demonstrated leadership skills in entrepreneurial
environments position him to make effective contributions to the board of directors. Mr. Sanders has more than 30 years of successful senior
management experience, most recently as CEO of Pinnacle Systems, and brings extensive boardroom experience, including chairman of several
technology organizations, to the board of directors. This experience and his abilities as a consensus-builder are highly valued by the board of
directors.
Timothy J. Wright has served as one of our directors since August 2005. Mr. Wright is a General Partner at GrandBanks Capital,
an early stage venture capital firm based in Wellesley, Massachusetts. Mr. Wright currently serves on the boards of Achievers, Celtra,
EachScape, Exit41, Nexage and Vivox. Mr. Wright has represented GrandBanks Capital on the board of directors of XKOTO, Inc., a
provider of data virtualization solutions sold to Teradata in May 2010. Mr. Wright served as Chief Executive of the EMEA and Asia-Pacific
operations of Geac Computer Corporation Limited and as its Chief Technology Officer from May 2004 to March 2006. He also served as
Geac's Senior Vice President, Chief Technology Officer and Chief
Information Officer from January 2003 to May 2004. Prior to joining Geac, Mr. Wright served
for just over three years as Senior Vice President, Chief Technology Officer and Chief
Information Officer at Terra Lycos, a provider of Internet access and content to users worldwide.
Prior to working at Terra Lycos, Mr. Wright spent seven years at The Learning Company, a provider of consumer educational
and home productivity software, until it was acquired by Mattel, Inc. in 1999. Mr. Wright received a B.S. in
Computer Science from City University in London. Mr. Wright's 25 years of technical experience, including building and running one of the
world's
largest collections of web properties for Terra Lycos, enables him to bring deep, relevant technical experience to the board of directors.
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Executive Officers
Our executive officers, and their respective ages as of March 28, 2012, are as follows. Each executive officer is appointed by the board of
directors until his or her successor is duly appointed or until his or her resignation or removal.
Name
Jean-Yves Dexmier
William O’Kelly

Age
60
57

Position
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Senior Vice President Operations and Chief Financial Officer

Jean-Yves Dexmier. Biographical information with regard to Dr. Dexmier is provided in this Item 10 above.
William O’Kelly joined LookSmart as Senior Vice President, Operations and Chief Financial Officer in January 2011 after serving as a
consultant to the company since November 2010. From April 2006 to March 2010, Mr. O’Kelly served as Chief Financial Officer and Chief
Operating Officer at Senetek PLC, a publicly traded life sciences and consumer products company. From March 2005 to April 2006, he served as a
financial consultant to Netopia (a Motorola company). Prior to that, he served as Chief Financial Officer at Agentis Software, Vice President and
Treasurer at Informix Software, Chief Financial Officer at Chemical Supplier Technology and Corporate Controller at Air Liquide America. Mr.
O’Kelly began his career as a CPA with Ernst and Young. Mr. O’Kelly holds a Bachelor of Science in Accounting from the University of Florida.
Board Committees and Meetings
In 2011, the board of directors held eight meetings. Each of the directors attended at least 75% or more of the aggregate of (i) the total number
of meetings of the board of directors and (ii) the total number of meetings held by all committees of the board of directors on which he or she
served (during the periods that he or she served). The Company has a policy of encouraging board members’ attendance at annual stockholder
meetings. In 2011, three members of the board of directors attended the annual stockholder meeting.
The board of directors has established three standing committees: the audit committee, the compensation committee and the nominating and
governance committee.
Audit Committee. The audit committee oversees the accounting and financial reporting processes of the Company, as well as audits of the
Company’s financial statements. The audit committee operates under a written charter adopted by the board of directors and has the authority to
select, and is directly responsible for the selection of, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm. The audit committee approves
the nature and scope of services to be performed by the independent registered public accounting firm, reviews the range of fees for such services,
confers with the independent registered public accounting firm, reviews the results of the annual audit and the Company’s annual and quarterly
financial statements, reviews with management and the independent registered public accounting firm the Company’s accounting and financial
controls, and reviews policies and practices regarding compliance with laws and the avoidance of conflicts of interest. Currently, the audit
committee consists of directors Castagna (Chair), Sanders and Wright, all of whom are “independent” directors as defined in applicable listing
standards of the National Association of Securities Dealers and applicable rules and regulations of the SEC. Our board of directors has determined
that each of the directors serving on our audit committee meets the requirements for financial literacy under applicable rules and regulations of the
SEC and NASDAQ. Mr. Castagna is an “audit committee financial expert” within the meaning of applicable SEC rules and has the requisite
financial sophistication as defined under the applicable rules and regulations of NASDAQ. In 2011, the audit committee held seven meetings. The
charter of the audit committee is available for viewing and download at http://www.looksmart.com/corporate-governance.html .
Nominating and Governance Committee. The nominating and governance committee develops and implements policies and processes
regarding corporate governance matters, assesses board membership needs and makes recommendations regarding potential director candidates to
the board of directors. Currently, the nominating and governance committee is composed of directors Sanders (Chair) and Kaufmann, all of whom
are "independent" directors as defined in applicable listing standards of the National Association of Securities Dealers and applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. In 2011, the nominating and governance committee held five meetings.
Compensation Committee. The compensation committee has the authority to review and approve compensation for the Chief Executive
Officer and other key employees, including cash, bonus incentives, executive perquisites, employment contracts, retention bonuses, and all other
forms of compensation. The compensation committee is also responsible for administering the Company’s equity incentive plans and has the
authority to delegate this responsibility to the Chief Executive Officer. Currently, the compensation committee consists of directors Kaufmann
(Chair) and Wright, all of whom are “independent” directors as defined in applicable listing standards of the National Association of Securities
Dealers and applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. In 2011, the compensation committee held four meetings.
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Nomination of Directors
The Nominating and Governance Committee has in the past, and may in the future, use third party executive search firms to help identify
prospective director nominees. In evaluating the suitability of each candidate, the nominating and governance committee will consider issues of
character, judgment, independence, age, expertise, diversity of experience, length of service, other commitments and the like. While there are no
specific minimum qualifications for director nominees, the ideal candidate should exhibit (i) independence, (ii) integrity, (iii) qualifications that will
increase overall board effectiveness and (iv) meet other requirements as may be required by applicable rules, such as financial literacy or expertise
for audit committee members. The Nominating and Governance Committee uses the same process for evaluating all nominees, regardless of the
original source of the nomination.
LookSmart stockholders may recommend individuals to the nominating and governance committee for consideration as potential director
candidates by submitting their names and appropriate background and biographical information to: LookSmart Nominating and Governance
Committee, c/o Chief Financial Officer, 55 Second Street, San Francisco, CA 94105. The recommendation must include any relevant information,
including the candidate's name, home and business contact information, detailed biographical data and qualifications, and information regarding any
relationships between the candidate and the Company within the last three years. LookSmart stockholders also have the right to nominate director
candidates without any action on the part of the nominating and governance committee or the board, by following the advance notice provisions of
LookSmart's bylaws as described below under "Advance Notice Procedures for Stockholder Proposals". In fiscal 2011, the Nominating and
Governance Committee did not receive any director nominations from any stockholders.
Communications to the Board
The board of directors provides a process for LookSmart stockholders to send communications to the board of directors. Any
stockholder who desires to contact the board of directors may do so by writing to LookSmart Board of Directors, 55 Second Street, San
Francisco, CA 94105. Communications received by mail will be forwarded to the chair of the board who will, in his discretion, forward such
communications to other directors, members of LookSmart management or such other persons as he deems appropriate.
Code of Ethics
LookSmart has adopted a code of ethics (referred to as the LookSmart, Ltd. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics) applicable to all directors,
officers and employees of the Company and has established a hotline available to all employees on a confidential basis. The LookSmart Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics is publicly available at htt p :/ / www.looksmartco m l c orpora t e-govemance.htm l . If we make any substantive
amendments to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or grant any waiver from a provision of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics to any
executive officer or director, we will promptly disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver on our website.
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act and the rules thereunder of the Securities and Exchange Commission require the Company's
directors, officers and beneficial owners of more than 10% of our common stock to file reports of their ownership and changes in ownership of
common stock with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Securities and Exchange Commission regulations require that the Company be
furnished with copies of these reports. Personnel of the Company generally prepare these reports on behalf of the directors and officers on the basis
of information obtained from each director and officer. Based solely on a review of these reports and on such information from the directors and
officers, the Company believes that all reports required by Section 16(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act to be filed during the year ended
December 31, 2011 were filed on time.
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Item 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

The following table provides certain summary information concerning the compensation earned for all services rendered in all capacities
to the Company and its subsidiaries for the 2011 fiscal year, by the Company's Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and Former Chief
Financial Officer. The persons listed in the table below are referred to throughout this proxy statement as the "named executive officers.”

Name and Principal Position
Jean-Yves Dexmier (6)
Executive Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
William O'Kelly (7)
Senior Vice President
Operations and Chief
Financial Officer
Steve Markowski (8)
Former Chief Financial
Officer
(1)
(2)
(3)

(4)
(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation
($) (4)
-

All Other
Compensation
($) (5)
492,000

Total
($)
498,446

-

-

Option
Award
($) (3)
6,446

2010
2011

239,538

11,717

239,073
161,748

-

486,000
9,000

725,073
422,003

2010
2011

17,700

-

-

-

32,000
309,375

32,000
327,075

2010

257,881

48,269

73,351

-

3,439

382,940

Year
2011

Salary
($) (1)

Bonus
($) (2)

Includes amounts earned but deferred at the election of the executive officer under the Company's 401(k) Plan established under Section
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code.
Includes non-equity guaranteed or discretionary bonuses, hiring bonuses and relocation bonuses. Annual cash incentive payments are
reported under "Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation".
The dollar value of the option award recognized for financial statement reporting purposes under the guidance of Financial Accounting
Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 718, Stock Compensation (formerly, FASB Statement
123R) ("ASC 718") is reflected in the "Option Awards" column. See Note 11 "Stockholders Equity" to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in this Form 10-K, which identifies assumptions made in the valuation of option awards in accordance with ASC 718.
Consists of commissions earned in 2010 and 2011.
Amounts include employer contributions credited under the Company's 401(k) Plan which is open to all Company employees. Under the
401(k) Plan, the Company makes matching contributions based on each participant's voluntary salary deferrals, subject to plan and Internal
Revenue Code limits. The maximum employer matching contribution in any given year is $3,000. Under the 401(k) Plan, matching
contributions are 50% vested after the first year of employment and 100% vested after the second year of employment. Amounts also
include consulting service payments, the value of life insurance premiums paid by the Company on behalf of the employee, the value of
any tax reimbursement and payments made in connection with any termination such as severance payments.
In 2011, Dr. Dexmier was entitled to receive $60,000 in fees for his membership on the board and service as Chairman of the board. Dr.
Dexmier elected to receive all of his compensation in cash. Dr. Dexmier received $432,000 for his service as Chief Executive Officer in
2011. Dr. Dexmier received 9,000 options in fiscal 2011 representing the annual grant which are immediately vested and exercisable, and
expire on October 4, 2018. The grant date fair value of the 2011 options was computed in accordance with ASC 718 was $6,446.
Dr. Dexmier received 9,000 options in fiscal 2010 representing the annual grant as well as 300,000 options for his services to the
Company. The aggregate grant date fair value of the 2010 options computed in accordance with ASC 718 was $ 239,073.
William O’Kelly joined LookSmart as Senior Vice President Operations and Chief Financial Officer in January 2011 after serving as a
consultant to the Company since November 2010. Mr. O’Kelly received $9,000 and $32,000 compensation for his consulting services in
2011 and 2010, respectively. Mr. O’Kelly received an initial employment grant of 180,000 options which vest over four years, with the
first twenty-five percent vesting one year from the grant date, and the remainder vesting on a monthly basis in equal increments during the
36-month period following the initial vesting date, assuming Mr. O’Kelly remains employed by the Company. These options expire on
February 11, 2018. The grant date fair value of which was computed in accordance with ASC 718 was $161,748.
On February 17, 2011, Stephen Markowski entered into Severance Agreement and General Release (the “CFO Release Agreement”). The
Company made a severance payment of $309,375 representing 9 months base salary plus 75% of annual target bonus. Mr. Markowski
received a $2,500 per month housing allowance for January 2010 which is reflected in the column entitled "All Other Compensation”.
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2011 OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR-END TABLE
The following table provides certain summary information concerning the outstanding equity awards at December 31, 2011, held by the
Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. The persons listed in the table below are referred to throughout this proxy
statement as the "named executive officers”.
Name
Dr. Dexmier (1)

William O'Kelly (2)
Steve Markowski
(1)

(2)

Option
Options (#)
Options (#) Options Excersise
Options
Grant Date
Exercisable Unexercisable
Price ($)
Expiration Date
8/9/2007
2,250
2.62
8/9/2017
8/9/2007
17,000
2.62
8/9/2017
3/24/2009
4,500
1.02
3/24/2019
5/17/2009
9,000
1.42
5/17/2019
8/3/2009
9,000
1.23
8/3/2016
8/6/2010
9,000
1.50
8/6/2017
8/6/2010
118,750
181,250
1.50
8/6/2017
10/4/2011
9,000
1.39
10/4/2018
2/11/2011
45,000
135,000
1.79
2/11/2018
No Options held at December 31, 2011

All options granted to Dr. Dexmier have been granted in connection with his service on the Board, except for the August 6, 2010 grant for
300,000 shares. The options vest over four years, with the first twenty-five percent vesting one year from the grant date, and the remainder
vesting on a monthly basis in equal increments during the 36-month period following the initial vesting date. Dr. Dexmier received 17,000
options on August 9, 2007 upon becoming a Company director, which vest monthly over three years. Dr. Dexmier received 2,250, a
prorated annual director grant on August 9, 2007, which vested immediately on the grant date. Dr. Dexmier received 4,500 options on
March 24, 2009 which vested immediately at grant. Dr. Dexmier received 9,000 options representing his annual director grant on May 17,
2009, August 3, 2009, August 6, 2010 and October 4, 2011, all of which vested immediately at grant.
Mr. O’Kelly received an option to purchase 180,000 shares upon becoming the Company's Chief Financial Officer. The options vest
over four years, with the first twenty-five percent vesting one year from the grant date, and the remainder vesting on a monthly basis in
equal increments during the 36-month period following the initial vesting date, assuming Mr. O’Kelly remains employed by the Company.
In the event the Company experiences a change of control and within 12 months thereafter Mr. O’Kelly’s employment is
terminated by the Company without "cause" or by Mr. O’Kelly for "good reason" (both terms as defined in Mr.
O’Kelly’s employment agreement), then all of his then-unvested stock options shall immediately vest.

Post-Termination Compensation and Benefit.
Other than as set forth below, the Company has no written employment agreements governing the length of service of its named executive
officers, or any severance or change of control agreements with its named executive officers and each of its named executive officers serves on an
"at-will" basis.
On November 8, 2010, the Company and Dr. Jean-Yves Dexmier entered into a Consulting Agreement (the "Consulting Agreement")
providing for the terms and conditions of Dr. Dexmier's consulting services for the Company as interim Chief Executive Officer. The Consulting
Agreement terminates upon the earlier of: (i) the Company's hiring of a new Chief Executive Officer or (ii) the eighteen-month anniversary of the
commencement of Dr. Dexmier's consulting relationship with the Company as interim Chief Executive Officer, unless terminated earlier in
accordance with the Consulting Agreement. This term may also be extended by the mutual written consent of the parties. In accordance with the
Consulting Agreement, the Company agreed to pay Dr. Dexmier the sum of $36,000 per month. Furthermore, in accordance with the Consulting
Agreement, Dr. Dexmier has been granted an option to buy 300,000 shares of the Company's common stock (the" Stock Options"). The Stock
Options began vesting on July 28, 2010 and will vest over four years, with the first twenty-five percent of the Stock Options vesting one year from
July 28, 2010, and the remainder vesting on a monthly basis in equal increments during the 36-month period following the initial vesting date. In
addition, in the event that the Company experiences a change of control and within 12 months thereafter the Consulting Agreement is terminated by
the Company without "cause" (as defined in the Consulting Agreement) or by Dr. Dexmier for "good reason" (as defined in the Consulting
Agreement), then all of Dr. Dexmier's then-unvested stock options shall immediately vest. In addition, the Company shall pay all of Dr. Dexmier's
reasonable expenses associated with the performance of the duties as interim Chief Executive Officer.
The Company has entered into a severance agreement with Mr. O’Kelly providing that, in the event the Company experiences a "Change of
Control" and within 12 months thereafter or if the executive officer's employment by the Company is terminated without "Cause" or he resigns for
"Good Reason," then Mr. O’Kelly would receive a cash payment representing nine months' worth of his target cash compensation, depending upon
his position with the Company, and the Company would pay on his behalf, health insurance premiums under COBRA for the same number of
months after such a termination or resignation. This agreement is provided by the Company in order to attract and retain such named executive
officer.
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On February 17, 2011, Stephen Markowski, former Chief Financial Officer of the Company entered into a Severance Agreement and General
Release (the "CFO Release Agreement"). The CFO Release Agreement sets forth the terms and provisions of Mr. Markowski’s separation from the
Company on January 13, 2011 as well as certain severance payments by the Company to Mr. Markowski following such separation. Pursuant to the
CFO Release Agreement, among other terms and conditions, Mr. Markowski executed a release with respect to any claims or causes of action
relating to Mr. Markowski's employment by the Company or his separation from the Company. Further, Mr. Markowski and the Company agreed
that the Company would make a severance payment to Mr. Markowski in the amount of $309,375 (less required withholdings and authorized
deductions) representing nine months of Mr. Markowski’s base salary plus 75% of Mr. Markowski's annual target bonus. In addition, the Company
agreed to pay Mr. Markowski's monthly health insurance premiums for his COBRA coverage as they become due covering the period from
February 1, 2011 until the earlier of the date Mr. Markowski accepts other employment or October 30, 2011. The CFO Release Agreement also
contains other terms and provisions that are customary in agreements of similar nature.
A "Change of Control" means the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, or the acquisition of the Company by another
entity by means of consolidation or merger pursuant to which the then current stockholders of the Company shall hold less than fifty percent (50%)
of the voting power of the surviving corporation; provided, however, that a reincorporation of the Company in another jurisdiction shall not
constitute a Change of Control.
"Cause" means that the executive officer: (i) is convicted of, or pleads nolo contendere to, any felony or other offense involving moral turpitude
or any crime related to his or her service, or commits any unlawful act of personal dishonesty resulting in personal impeachment in respect of his
relationship with the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate or otherwise detrimental to the Company in any material respect; (ii) fails to
consistently perform his material duties or services to the Company in good faith and to the best of his ability; provided, however, that the Company
shall not be permitted to terminate him pursuant to this clause unless it has first provided him with written notice and an opportunity to cure such
failure; (iii) willfully disregards or fails to follow instructions from the Company's senior management or board of directors to do any legal act
related to the Company's business or services being provided; (iv) willfully disregards or violates material provisions of the Company's Code of
Conduct or other corporate policies; (v) exhibits habitual drunkenness or engages in substance abuse which in any way materially affects his ability
to perform his duties and obligations to the Company; or (vi) commits any material violation of any state or federal law relating to the workplace
environment.
•

A resignation for "Good Reason" means that the executive officer (other than Dr. Dexmier) resigns from all positions he or she then holds
with the Company and its affiliates as a result of (i) (A) the Company making a material adverse change in the executive officer's position
causing such position to be of materially reduced stature or responsibility, (B) a material reduction of the executive officer's base salary,
(C) the executive officer being required to relocate his primary work location to a location that would increase the executive officer’s one
way commute distance by more than fifty (50) miles, or (D) a material reduction of the executive officer's target bonus percentage
(provided that fluctuation in actual bonus amounts earned and paid in material accordance with the provisions of the bonus plan in which
the executive officer participates will not constitute "good reason"), (ii) the executive officer provides written notice to the Company's
General Counsel within the sixty (60) days immediately following such material change or reduction, (iii) such material change or
reduction is not remedied by the Company within thirty (30) days following the Company's receipt of such written notice and (iv) the
executive officer's resignation is effective not later than ninety (90) days after the expiration of such thirty (30) day cure period. As to Dr.
Dexmier, "Good Reason" shall mean that Dr. Dexmier terminates his consulting agreement as a result of (i) (A) the Company making a
material adverse change in the terms of his consulting agreement, (B) a material reduction of the consulting fees specified in his consulting
agreement, or (C) the Company (or any successor thereto) materially breaching the terms of his consulting agreement, any of which events
occurs without Dr. Dexmier's written consent; (ii) Dr. Dexmier provides written notice to the Board within the sixty (60) days immediately
following such material change or reduction; (iii) such material change or reduction is not remedied by the Company within thirty (30)
days following the Company's receipt of such written notice; and (iv) Dr. Dexmier's termination of his consulting agreement is effective
not later than ninety (90) days after the expiration of such thirty (30) day cure period.
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Compensation of Directors
Members of the board of directors receive the following compensation: (i) new non-employee directors are granted an option to purchase
17,000 shares of common stock upon joining the board of directors, which option vests monthly over 36 months, (ii) each year, non-employee
directors are granted an option to purchase 9,000 shares of common stock, based upon the continued service of the director during the prior year,
which vests immediately, (iii) $2,500 per quarter for members of the audit committee if the member attends at least 80% of the regularly scheduled
meetings held by the committee during the quarter, (iv) $1,500 per quarter for members of the compensation committee if the member attends at
least 80% of the regularly scheduled meetings held by the committee during the quarter, (v) $500 per quarter for members of the nominating and
governance committee if the member attends at least 80% of the regularly scheduled meetings held by the committee during the quarter, (vi) $7,500
per quarter for members of the board of directors if the member attends at least 80% of the regularly scheduled meetings held by the board of
directors during the quarter, (vii) $3,750 per quarter for the Chair of the audit committee, (viii) $2,250 per quarter for the Chair of the compensation
committee, (ix) $1,250 per quarter for the Chair of the nominating and governance committee, (x) $7,500 per quarter for the Chair of the board and
(xi) $3,750 per quarter for the Lead Independent Director. For all unvested options held by directors, vesting accelerates 100% in the event of
involuntary termination of the director's membership on the board of directors within 12 months after a change of control of the Company.
Directors are also given the option to elect to convert any or all of their cash fees into fully vested stock, with the conversion methodology being
based on the fair market value of company stock on the date of grant, plus an additional 15% of that amount as "uplift". The 15% uplift is provided
in consideration of each director's commitment to hold the stock for at least one year. For any quarter or year in which a director has not served as a
board or committee member for the entire period, the compensation described above (except for the initial grant) is prorated for the period of time
served. Directors received no other compensation for their service as directors in 2011, other than reimbursement of reasonable out-of-pocket
expenses for attendance at board meetings. During 2010, Dr. Jean-Yves Dexmier is a named executive officer and his compensation for service as a
director is fully reflected above in the Summary Compensation Table above.

Name
Anthony Castagna (4)
Teresa A. Dial (5)
Mark Sanders (6)
Timothy Wright (7)
Scott Kaufmann (8)
(1)

(2)
(3)

(4)

(5)

Fees Paid
in Cash
($)(1)
59,000
72,800
59,300
56,800

Stock
Awards
($)(2)
-

Option
Awards
($)(3)
6,446
44,446
6,446
6,446
16,936

All Other
Compensation
($)
-

Total ($)
65,446
44,446
79,246
65,746
73,736

In 2011, directors could elect to receive all or part of their cash fees in either fully vested stock options or fully vested stock. Directors who
elected to take fully vested stock in lieu of cash were entitled to a 15% increase in the value of the stock received provided that the director
agreed to hold the stock for a one year period. This column reflects only the amount a director received in cash. The value of stock or stock
options received in lieu of cash is reflected in the Stock Awards and Option Awards columns.
These amounts reflect the dollar value of the fully vested stock recognized for financial statement reporting purposes in accordance with
ASC 718.
These amounts reflect expense recognized by the Company in 2011 for a portion of the current and prior year option awards to each
director. Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements identifies assumptions made in the valuation of option awards in accordance
with ASC 718. All options granted to directors vest immediately and expire after seven years. No estimated forfeiture rate has been applied
in valuing the option grants.
Mr. Castagna was entitled to receive $59,000 in fees for his membership on the board, his membership on the audit committee, and his
membership on and service as Chair of the nominating and governance committee. Mr. Castagna elected to receive all of his director
compensation in cash. Dr. Castagna received 9,000 options in fiscal 2011 representing the annual grant. The grant date fair value of the
2011 options computed in accordance with ASC 718 was $6,446.
Ms. Dial passed away on February 28, 2012. Ms. Dial was entitled to receive $38,000 in fees for her membership on the board and her
memberships on the compensation committee and nominating and governance committee. Ms. Dial elected to receive all of her director
compensation in the form of fully-vested nonqualified stock options as follows: On March 31, 2011, June 30, 2011, September 30, 2011
and December 30, 2011, Ms. Dial received 10,647, 11,875, 13,014 and 14,394 options, respectively, and all options were outstanding as of
December 31, 2011. Ms. Dial received 9,000 options in fiscal 2011 representing the annual grant. The aggregate grant date fair value of all
these options computed in accordance with ASC 718 was $44,446, which includes the options granted in lieu of director compensation.
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(6)

(7)

(8)

Mr. Sanders was entitled to receive $72,800 in fees for his membership on and service as Lead Independent Director of the board, his
membership on and service as Chair of the compensation committee, and his membership on the audit committee and nominating and
governance committee. Mr. Sanders elected to receive all of his director compensation in cash. Mr. Sanders received 9,000 options in
fiscal 2011 representing the annual grant. The grant date fair value of the 2011 options computed in accordance with ASC 718 was $6,446.
Mr. Wright was entitled to receive $59,300 in fees for his membership on the board, his membership on and service as Chair of the
compensation committee (January through June 2011) and his membership on the audit committee and nominating and governance
committee (January through June, 2011). Mr. Wright elected to receive all his director compensation in cash. Dr. Wright received 9,000
options in fiscal 2011 representing the annual grant. The grant date fair value of the 2011 options computed in accordance with ASC 718
was $6,446.
Mr. Kaufmann received was entitled to receive $56,800 in fees for his membership on the board, his membership on and service as Chair
of compensation committee (July through December, 2011) and his membership on the nominating and governance committee. Mr.
Kaufmann elected to receive all of his director compensation in cash. Mr. Kaufman received 17,000 shares of common stock upon his
joining the Board of Directors in 2011. As of December 31, 2011, the grant date fair value of these options computed in accordance with
ASC 718 was $16,936.

As of December 31, 2011, the following directors held the following aggregate number of options outstanding: Mr. Castagna – 259,785 of which
259,785 are exercisable; Ms. Dial – 389,018 of which 389,018 are exercisable; Mr. Sanders – 151,863 of which 151,863 are exercisable; Mr.
Wright – 158,202 of which 158,202 are exercisable; Mr. Kauffman - 17,000 of which 3,777 are exercisable.
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ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

To the Company's knowledge, the following table sets forth the number of shares of LookSmart common stock beneficially owned as of March
28, 2012 by each beneficial owner of 5% or more of the Company's outstanding common stock, each of LookSmart’s directors and nominees for
director, each of the named executive officers, and all of LookSmart's directors and executive officers as a group. Percentage ownership is based on
17,293,237 shares of common stock outstanding as of March 21, 2012 and computed in accordance with SEC requirements.
Except as otherwise indicated below and subject to applicable community property laws, each owner has sole voting and sole investment
powers with respect to the stock issued. Shares beneficially owned include securities issuable upon exercise of stock options exercisable within 60
days of March 28, 2012. Unless otherwise indicated below, the address of the persons listed is c/o LookSmart, Ltd., 55 Second Street, CA 94105.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner
Mercury Fund VII, Ltd., Mercury Fund VIII, Ltd.,
Mercury Ventures II, Ltd.,
Mercury Management, L.L.C., and Kevin C. Howe(2)
Kennedy Capital Management, Inc. (3)
10829 Olive Blvd.
St. Louis. MO 63141
Platinum Partners Value Arbitrage Fund L.P (4)
152 West 57th Street, 4th Floor
New York, NY 10019
Renaissance Technologies LLC (5)
800 Third Avenue
New York, NY 10022
Dimensional Fund Advisors L.P. (6)
Palisades West, Building One
6300 Bee Cave Road, Austin TX 78746
Anthony Castagna
Jean-Yves Dexmier
Timothy J. Wright (7)
Mark Sanders
Scott Kauffman
William O'Kelly
All directors and executive officers as a group (8)

Shares
Beneficially
Owned (1)
1,693,119

Percent
Beneficially
Owned
9.8%

1,466,756

8.5%

1,060,577

6.1%

970,700

5.6%

953,863

5.5%

259,785
197,250
158,202
151,863
106,138
56,250
929,488

1.5%
1.1%
0.9%
0.9%
0.6%
0.3%
5.3%

(1) Includes shares that may be acquired by the exercise of stock options granted under the Company's stock option plans within 60 days after
March 28, 2012. The number of shares subject to stock options exercisable within 60 days after March 28, 2012 , for each of the named
executive officers and directors is shown below:
Anthony Castagna
Jean-Yves Dexmier
Timothy J. Wright
Mark Sanders
William O'Kelly
Scott Kauffman

259,785
197,250
158,202
151,863
56,250
6,138

(2) This information is based solely on information as of December 31, 2011, as set forth in Schedule 13G/A, filed on February 9, 2010, the
following related parties. Mercury Fund VII, Ltd. has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to 395,119 shares, Mercury Fund
VIII, Ltd. has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to 1,298,000 shares, Mercury Ventures II, Ltd. has sole voting and dispositive
power with respect to 1,693,119 shares, Mercury Management, L.L.C. has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to 1,693,119
shares and Kevin C. Howe has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to 1,693,119 shares. Mr. Howe exercises voting and
disposition power over such shares on behalf of Mercury Management, the General Partner of Mercury Ventures II. Mercury Ventures II is
the General Partner of Mercury VII and Mercury VIII.
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(3) This information is based solely on information as of December 31, 2011, as set forth in Schedule 13G/A, filed on February 14, 2012 by
Kennedy Capital Management, Inc. The reporting person has sole voting power with respect to 1,387,552 shares and sole dispositive
power with respect to all the shares.
(4) This information is based solely on information as of January 18, 2012, as set forth in Schedule 13G, filed on March 15, 2012, by Platinum
Partners Value Arbitrage Fund L.P. Platinum Partners Value Arbitrage Fund L.P. has sole voting power and sole dispositive power with
respect to all the shares.
(5) This information is based solely on information as of December 30, 2011 , as set forth in Schedule 13G/A, filed on February 13, 2012 by
Renaissance Technologies LLC and Renaissance Technologies Holding Corporation. Renaissance Technologies LLC and Renaissance
Technologies Holding Corporation each have sole voting power and sole dispositive power with respect to all the shares because
Renaissance Technologies Holding Corporation has majority ownership of Renaissance Technologies LLC.
(6) This information is based solely on information as of December 31, 2011, as set forth in Schedule 13G/A, filed on February 14, 2011 by
Dimensional Fund Advisors LP (“Dimensional”). Dimensional is an investment advisor registered under Section 203 of the Investment
Advisors Act of 1940 and has sole voting power with respect to 938,353 shares and sole dispositive power with respect to all the shares.
Dimensional notes that while for purposes of the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, Dimensional
may be deemed to be a beneficial owner of such securities. Neither Dimensional or Subsidiaries poses voting and /or investment power
over such securities in their role as investment advisor, sub-advisor and /or manager, and Dimensional disclaims beneficial ownership of
such securities.
(7) Of the total shares beneficially owned by Mr. Wright, 4,000 shares are held indirectly by his trust.
(8) Please see note (1) above. Also includes a total of 29,750 shares issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of March
28, 2012 for Jean –Yves Dexmier and William O’Kelly.
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table provides information concerning our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2011 under which common stock of
the Company is authorized for issuance.

Equity Plans Approved by Stockholders
ITEM 13 .

Number of Shares
of Common Stock
to be Issued upon
Exercise of
Outstanding
Options
2,661,805

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
of Outstanding
Options
$
2.76

Number of Shares
Remaining Available
for Future Issuance
under our equity
comp. plans
(excluding shares
reflected in column 1)
1,535,504

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Indemnification Agreements . The Company has entered into indemnity agreements with its directors and officers providing for indemnification
of each director and officer against expenses incurred in connection with any action or investigation involving the director or officer by reason of
his or her position with the Company (or with another entity at the Company's request). The directors and officers will also be indemnified for costs,
including judgments, fines and penalties that are indemnifiable under Delaware law or under the terms of any current or future liability insurance
policy maintained by the Company that covers directors and officers. A director or officer involved in a derivative suit will be indemnified for
expenses and amounts paid in settlement. Indemnification is dependent in each instance on the director or officer meeting the standards of conduct
set forth in the indemnity agreements.
62

Table of Contents

Policies and Procedures for Approving Related Person Transactions. Our policy and procedure with respect to any related person transaction
between the Company and any related person requiring disclosure under Item 404(a) of regulation S-K under the Securities and Exchange Act of
1934, is that the Company's audit committee reviews all such transactions. This review covers any material transaction, arrangement or relationship,
or any series of similar transactions, arrangements or relationships, in which the Company was and is to be a participant, and a related party had or
will have a direct or indirect material interest, including, purchases of goods or services by or from the related party or entities in which the related
party has a material interest, indebtedness, guarantees of indebtedness and employment by the Company of a related party. The board of directors
has adopted a written policy reflecting the policy and procedure identified above.
Director Independence
Our board of directors undertook a review of the independence of each director was concluded in third quarter and considered whether any
director has a material relationship with us that could compromise his or her ability to exercise independent judgment in carrying out his
responsibilities. As a result of this review, our board of directors determined that four of the five members of LookSmart's board of directors are
"independent" (Scott Kauffman, Anthony Castagna, Mark Sanders and Timothy J. Wright), as defined in applicable listing standards of the National
Association of Securities Dealers. For the year ended December 31, 2011, Ms. Dial, a former member of LookSmart’s board of directors, was also
determined to be “independent”.
ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Fees Incurred by LookSmart for Independent Registered Accounting Firm
The following table presents fees and expenses rendered by our principal accountants, Moss Adams LLP ("Moss Adams") for fiscal 2011 and
2010.
Category
Audit Fees
Audit-Related Fees
Tax Fees
All Other Fees
Total

$

$

2011
316,303
21,469
337,772

$

$

2010
360,575
360,575

Audit Fees represent fees for professional services provided in connection with the audit of our financial statements and the review of our
quarterly financial statements. All Other Fees consist of fees for the audit of our 401(k) plan and tax advice related to our Canadian subsidiary. Our
audit committee considered whether the provision of non-audit services was compatible with maintaining the independence of external public
accounting firm and has concluded that it was.
Policy on Pre-Approval by Audit Committee of Services Performed by Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms
The policy of the audit committee is to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services to be performed by the independent public
accounting firm during the fiscal year. The audit committee pre-approves services by authorizing specific projects within the categories outlined
above. The audit committee's charter delegates to its Chair the authority to address any requests for pre-approval of services between audit
committee meetings, and the Chair must report any pre-approval decisions to the audit committee at its next scheduled meeting. All of the services
related to the fees described above were approved by the audit committee pursuant to the pre-approval provisions set forth in the applicable SEC
rules and the audit committee's charter.
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PART IV
ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) Financial Statements . The following are filed as part of Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30
31
32
33
34
35
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LOOKSMART, LTD.
SCHEDULE II
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(In thousands)

Description
Year ended December 31, 2011
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for returns
Deferred tax valuaton allowance
Year ended December 31, 2010
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for returns
Deferred tax valuation allowance

Balance at
Beginning of
Period

Charged to
Costs and
Expenses

Balance at
End of
Period

Deductions

$

174
203
74,558

$

521
273
-

$

127
138
1,874

$

568
338
72,684

$

127
50
73,575

$

48
263
983

$

1
110
-

$

174
203
74,558

Exhibits. The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index (following the Signatures section of this report) are included, or incorporated by reference, in this
Annual Report.
SIG NATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in San Francisco, California, on March 28, 2012:
LOOKSMART, LTD.
By:

/s/ WILLIAM O’KELLY
William O’Kelly
Senior Vice President Operations
and Chief Financial Officer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Jean-Yves
Dexmier and William O’Kelly jointly and severally, as his or her attorneys-in-fact, each with the full power of substitution, for him or her, in any
and all capacities, to sign any amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting to said attorneys-in-fact, and each of them, full power and authority
to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he
or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact or any of them, or their or his or her substitute or
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this Report has been
signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:
Signature

Title

Date

/S/ JEAN-YVES DEXMIER
Jean-Yves Dexmier

Executive Chairman of the Board, Chief
Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

March 28, 2012

/S/ WILLIAM O’KELLY
William O’Kelly

Senior Vice President Operations and
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial [and
Accounting] Officer)

March 28, 2012

/S/ ANTHONY CASTAGNA
Anthony Castagna

Director

March 28, 2012

/S/ MARK SANDERS
Mark Sanders

Director

March 28, 2012

/S/ TIMOTHY J. WRIGHT
Timothy J. Wright

Director

March 28, 2012

/S/ SCOTT L. KAUFFMAN
Scott Kauffman

Director

March 28, 2012
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EXH IBIT INDEX
Exhibits
Number

Description of Document

3.1

Restated Certificate of Incorporation (Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 00026357) filed with the SEC on November 14, 2005).

3.2

Bylaws (Filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-26357) filed with the SEC on
August 14, 2000) (File No. 000-26357).

4.1

Form of Specimen Stock Certificate (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-26357)
filed with the SEC on November 14, 2005).

10.1++

Forms of Stock Option Agreement used by the Company in connection with grants of stock options to employees, directors and
other service providers in connection with the Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Plan (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-26357) filed with the SEC on October 22, 2004).

10.2++

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between the Company and each of its directors and officers (Filed as Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-80581) filed with the SEC on June 14, 1999).

10.3++

Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Plan (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No.
333-80581) filed with the SEC on June 14, 1999).

10.4++

LookSmart 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333144384) filed with the SEC on July 6, 2007).

10.5

Lease Agreement with Rosenberg SOMA Investments III, LLC for property located at 625 Second Street, San Francisco,
California, dated May 5, 1999 (Filed as Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 33380581) filed with the SEC on June 14, 1999).

10.6++

LookSmart, Ltd. Form Amended and Restated Change of Control/Severance Agreement (Filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 16, 2009).

10.7

Sponsored Links Master Terms and Conditions between the Company and eBay, Inc. dated March 12, 2007 (Filed as Exhibit
10.32 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 9, 2007).

10.8+

LookSmart Reseller Terms and Conditions with MeziMedia dated September 7, 2005. (Filed as Exhibit 10.33 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 10, 2007).

10.9+

Paid Listings License Agreement between the Company and SearchFeed.com dated April 15, 2006 (Filed as Exhibit 10.39 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-26357) filed with the SEC on May 10, 2006).

10.10+

License Agreement between the Company and SearchFeed.com dated November 23, 2003, as Amended on March 29, 2004 and
March 21, 2005 (Filed as Exhibit 10.40 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 000-26357) filed with the SEC
on March 15, 2006).

10.11

Paid Listings License Agreement between the Company and Kontera Technologies, Inc. dated July 17, 2006. (Filed as Exhibit
10.47 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q with the SEC on August 6, 2010).

10.12+

License Agreement between the Company and Oversee.net dated April 1, 2004 (Filed as Exhibit 10.48 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 9, 2007).

10.13+

Backfill Agreement between the Company and Internext Media Corp. dated February 8, 2008 (Filed as Exhibit 10.50 to with the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q on May 12, 2008).
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10.14

Paid Listings License Agreement between the Company and PeakClick GMBH dated April 15, 2006 (Filed as Exhibit 10.51 to
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q May 7, 2010).

10.15

Advertiser Terms and Conditions between the Company and MeziMedia dated September 26, 2008 (Filed as Exhibit 10.52 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q on May 7, 2010).

10.16

Paid Listings License Agreement between the Company and Wellbourne Limited dated March 15, 2006 (Filed as Exhibit 10.53 to
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q on May 7, 2010).

10.17++

Board Services Agreement between the Company and its Jean-Yves Dexmier dated July 1, 2008 (Filed as Exhibit 10.61 to the
Company’s Amended Annual Report on Form 10-K/A on April 30, 2009).

10.18

Sublease Agreement with KPMG, LLP for property located at 55 Second Street, San Francisco, California (Filed as Exhibit 10.63
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q on November 4, 2009).

10.19

Master Lease Agreement between the Company and City National Bank dated April 6, 2007 (Filed as Exhibit 10.65 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 26, 2010).

10.20

Covenants Rider to the Master Lease Agreement between the Company and City National Bank dated September 30, 2009 (Filed
as Exhibit 10.66 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q on November 4, 2009).

10.21

Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit Application and Letter of Credit Agreement between the Company and City National Bank
dated August 14, 2009 (Filed as Exhibit 10.67 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q on November 4, 2009).

10.22

First Amendment to Supplemental Terms and Conditions Letter between the Company and City National Bank dated October 16,
2009 (Filed as Exhibit 10.68 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q on November 4, 2009).

10.23‡

Master Services Agreement #12223.0.1 between the Company and RagingWire Enterprise Solutions, Inc. effective as of October
30, 2009 (Filed as Exhibit 10.69 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 26, 2010).

10.24++

Employment offer letter between the Company Mr. Eltinge Brown dated January 30, 2009 (together with summary of amendment
thereto in connection with a salary decrease in June, 2009) (Filed as Exhibit 10.74 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10K filed with the SEC on March 26, 2010).

10.25++

2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan Filed as Exhibit 4.1to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333165791) filed with the SEC on March 30, 2010).

10.26‡
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Severance Agreement and General Release between Company and Stephen Markowski (Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 22, 2011).
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Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to portions of the exhibit. Omitted portions have been filed separately with
the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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Exhibit 10.33
REQUEST TO AMEND LETTER OF CREDIT (COMMERCIAL OR STANDBY)

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS CENTER
S.W.I.F.T ADDRESS: CINAUS6L
x Southern California
¨ Northern California
555 South Flower Street, 24lh floor 2101 Webster Street, Ground Floor
Los Angeles, California 90071
Oakland, CA 94612

Date:

12/19/2011

TO: CITY NATIONAL BANK (CNB)
We request you to AMEND by:
Letter of Credit No.:

¨
x
¨

Cable
Overnight courier service
Same day messenger service

090820.OD.5443

BENEFICIARY NAME:
KPMG LLP

APPLICANT NAME:
LOOKSMART LTD

Please amend this credit as follows:
1. CREDIT AMOUNT DECREASED BY USD 108,000.00 TO AN AGGREGATE TOTAL
AMOUNT OF USD 192,000.00 (ONE HUNDRED NINETY TWO THOUSAND EXACTLY U.S. DOLLARS)

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE
LOOKSMART LTD

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE
LOOKSMART LTD

It is understood that this amendment is subject to acceptance by the beneficiary. All other terms and conditions of the credit including, without
limitation, the Agreement on the reverse side of the Letter of Credit Application remain unchanged and in full force and effect.
Press ALT + Q to insert additional client signature blocks (Maximum of two additional blocks.)
FOR BANK USE ONLY:
APPROVAL OF CREDIT:

X

SEE SIGNATURE BLOCK ABOVE
Lending Officer Signature

X

SANFORD TOPHAN

Applicant Name
44502

Officer Name and Code
Banking Office and No.

X
Authorized Signature

ACCOUNT TO BE DEBITED
o Banking Office G/L No. 11305000
x Customer Acct. No

Print Name and Title
432626008

FORM INSTRUCTIONS
For Forms Completed Electronically : After entering all of the requested information, please print the completed form, and have the appropriate
persons sign and date where indicated above, and then return it to your CNB relationship manager. Please make a copy for your records.
Completed forms are not to be sent by e-mail back to CNB as e-mail is not a secure method of sending business and personal identifying and
financial information.
For Forms Printed and Completed Manually : After entering all of the requested information, have the appropriate persons sign and date where
indicated above, and then return it to your CNB relationship manager. Please make a copy for your records.

ID 01193E (Rev 08/2007)
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Exhibit 21.1
List of Subsidiaries
Name of Entity
LookSmart Holdings (Delaware), Ltd.
LookSmart International Pty Ltd.
LookSmart Canada Ltd
Advertising Network Services, Inc.

Jurisdiction
Delaware
Australia
Canada
California

The names of certain subsidiaries have been omitted because, considered in the aggregate, as a single subsidiary, they would not constitute a
significant subsidiary, as calculated under Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X.

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-159804, 333-144384, 333-143410, 333-129987, 333120295, 333-112070, 333-100228, 333-86436, 333-65986, 333-51408, 333-45634, 333-89653, 333-165791, on Form S-8 of our report dated March
28, 2012, relating to the consolidated financial statements and schedule appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of LookSmart, Ltd. for the
year ended December 31, 2011.
/s/ Moss Adams LLP
San Francisco, California
March 28, 2012

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Jean-Yves Dexmier, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of LookSmart, Ltd.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 28, 2012
/s/ JEAN-YVES DEXMIER
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, William O’Kelly, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of LookSmart, Ltd.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 28, 2012
/s/ WILLIAM O’KELLY
Senior Vice President Operations
and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Jean-Yves Dexmier, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that the Annual Report of LookSmart, Ltd. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents
in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of LookSmart, Ltd.
Date: March 28, 2012
By:
/s/ Jean- Yves Dexmier
Name: Jean-Yves Dexmier
Title: Chief Executive Officer
I, William O’Kelly, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
the Annual Report of LookSmart, Ltd. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents in all
material respects the financial condition and results of operations of LookSmart, Ltd.
Date: March 28, 2012
By:
/s/William O’Kelly
Name: William O’Kelly
Title: Senior Vice President Operations
and Chief Financial Officer
This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of LookSmart, Ltd. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

